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Real Property Disposal Bulk Load Worksheet
Version 1.6
Real Property
In accordance with Public Authorities Law, please provide information on the following: 
Any real property of the authority having an estimated fair market value in excess of $15,000 that the authority either acquired or disposed of during the reporting period.
Columns whose names contain "*" are required and must have values for each record to be loaded.  Do not enter blank lines, as a blank line (a line with no information) will be regarded as the end of the file. Do not enter commas, letters or $ signs in numeric fields.
This worksheet must be saved as type "csv" in order to be uploaded to PARIS.  Select "Save As" from the "File" menu above and select "CSV (comma delimited)" as the file type.
Note: Most cells have some level of validation, however, validation in Excel only functions when you actually type data in the cell.  It is recommended that you selectively check validation in rows that you have copied data into.

* Address Line 1 * City State
* Postal 
Code * Property Description

 * Estimated Fair  
Market Value 
(NOTE: 
ASSESSED 
VALUE USED) 

* How was 
FMV 
determined? 

* Transaction 
Type

* Transaction 
Date

 Purchase/Sale 
Price 

* Was the real 
property 
acquisition/dispos
al transaction 
competitively 
bid?” 

Seller/Purchaser/T
enant 
Organization

Seller/Purchaser/T
enant Last Name

Seller/Purchaser/T
enant First Name * Address Line 1 * City State * Postal Code

574 Elm Avenue Bethlehem NY 12158 Residential Building 100,000$               Other Disposition - Sale 01/23/2017 55,000$                 Y Grady Brian 381 Feura Bush RoaGlenmont NY 12077
26 Congress Street Cohoes NY 12047 Residential Vacant Lot 11,200$                 Other Disposition - Sale 09/26/2016 500$                      Y Joslyn Harold 3 Bleecker Terrace #Albany NY 12206
5 Willowbrook Avenue Selkirk NY 12158 Residential Building 11,990$                 Other Disposition - Sale 06/12/2017 28,000$                 Y Teriele Shane P.O. Box 516 Selkirk NY 12158
61 Thatcher Street Selkirk NY 12158 Residential Building 132,000$               Other Disposition - Sale 08/15/2016 25,000$                 Y Donnelly Daniel T. 1185 US Route 9w Selkirk NY 12158
25 McKinley Street Albany NY 12206 Residential Building 132,000$               Other Disposition - Sale 03/28/2017 30,000$                 Y Albany Community Land Trust 255 Orange Ddtreet Albany NY 12210
1 Wellington Avenue Albany NY 12203 Residential Building 193,000$               Other Disposition - Sale 06/28/2017 50,000$                 Y GJF Holdings LLc 49 Dyke Rd Alathem NY 12110
1 Chestnut Hill Road South Colonie NY 12211 Residential Building 195,000$               Other Disposition - Sale 07/25/2016 141,000$               Y Kacani Kostandin 3 Dana Ave Albany NY 12208
413 First Street Albany NY 12206 Residential Vacant Lot 20,000$                 Other Disposition - Sale 12/19/2016 500$                      Y McGovern Joseph 5 Wilson Street Albany NY 12207
59 Delaware Street Albany NY 12202 Residential Vacant Lot 20,000$                 Other Disposition - Sale 02/22/2017 100$                      Y Habitat for Humanity  Capital District 325 Washington Ave  Albany NY 12205
69 North Lake Avenue Albany NY 12206 Residential Building 20,000$                 Other Disposition - Sale 06/30/2017 8,000$                   Y Moflhi Sofyan 112 Bradford Street Albany NY 12206
5 Bleecker Place Albany NY 12202 Residential Building 22,000$                 Other Disposition - Sale 06/26/2017 25,000$                 Y Gilhooly Michael 504 Madison AvenueAlbany NY 12208
250 Clinton Avenue Albany NY 12210 Commercial Building 25,000$                 Other Disposition - Sale 12/27/2016 12,500$                 Y Roberts Kiri 50 Colvin Ave Albany NY 12206
164 Lark Street Albany NY 12210 Residential Building 25,000$                 Other Disposition - Sale 11/14/2016 2,000$                   Y Montesano Matthew & Karin 19 Crestwood Drive Clifton Park NY 12065
1214 8th Avenue Watervliet NY 12189 Residential Vacant Lot 25,000$                 Other Disposition - Sale 05/10/2017 3,750$                   Y Slichko Michael 1220 8th Ave Watervliet NY 12189
76 Spring Street Albany NY 12210 Residential Building 25,000$                 Other Disposition - Sale 06/26/2017 60,000$                 Y Li Homgyan 399 State Street #40Albany NY 12210
403 2nd Avenue Watervliet NY 12189 Residential Vacant Lot 28,700$                 Other Disposition - Sale 05/16/2017 1,350$                   Y Calacone Michael 401 2nd Avenue Watevliet NY 12189
359 Elm Avenue Bethlehem NY 12054 Residential Building 288,300$               Other Disposition - Sale 05/16/2017 165,000$               Y Junco Paul 15 Walmery Drive Delmer NY 12054
9 Dana Avenue Albany NY 12208 Residential Building 30,000$                 Other Disposition - Sale 07/29/2016 4,000$                   Y Kacani Kostandin 3 Dana Ave Albany NY 12208
4342 Albany Street Colonie NY 12205 Commercial Vacant Lot 36,000$                 Other Disposition - Sale 06/26/2017 30,000$                 Y Amer Abdelgelil 7 Whitney Road SouSaratoga NY 12866
14 Railroad Avenue New Scotland NY 12067 Residential Building 38,000$                 Other Disposition - Sale 12/19/2016 3,000$                   Y Hudson Valley Italian Restaurants, Inc. 30 Salvo Drive Athens NY 12015
40 Eagan Avenue Colonie NY 12205 Residential Vacant Lot 40,100$                 Other Disposition - Sale 04/17/2017 55,000$                 Y Baykal Adnan 107 Nyroy Drive Troy NY 12180
254-256 Elk Street Albany NY 12206 Residential Building 50,000$                 Other Disposition - Sale 03/02/2017 2,500$                   Y Grant Lydia 353 Orange Street Albany NY 12206
169 Central Avenue Albany NY 12206 Commercial Building 50,000$                 Other Disposition - Sale 04/24/2017 160,000$               Y 168 J&Y Realty LLC 446 3rd Avenue Watervliet NY 12189
311 Broadway Village of Menands NY 12204 Residential Building 55,000$                 Other Disposition - Sale 05/16/2017 70,000$                 Y NLK Ventures, LLC NLK Ventures, LLC 10 Woodbine Ave Watervliet NY 12189
22 Pinehurst Road Colonie NY 12205 Residential Building 66,000$                 Other Disposition - Sale 05/16/2017 25,000$                 Y DiSanto Ryan 35 Fuller Rd. Suite 2 Albany NY 12205
15 Grenada Terrace Colonie NY 12189 Residential Building 66,500$                 Other Disposition - Sale 06/26/2017 25,000$                 Y Quiles Carlos 58 Locust Park Albany NY 12205
627 Saratoga Street Cohoes NY 12047 Residential Building 67,200$                 Other Disposition - Sale 03/13/2017 35,000$                 Y Broadus John 8 John St. Apt. #4 Rensselar NY 12144
849 Livingston Avenue Albany NY 12206 Residential Building 80,000$                 Other Disposition - Sale 04/04/2017 10,000$                 Y Joseph Joboy 515 Albany Shaker RLoudonville NY 12211
8 Krystal Lane New Scotland NY 12186 Residential Building 84,000$                 Other Disposition - Sale 06/19/2017 20,000$                 Y Erkkinen Eric 341 font grove Rd Slingerlands NY 12159
608 Third Street Albany NY 12206 Residential Building 86,000$                 Other Disposition - Sale 12/27/2016 14,000$                 Y Odutayo Adebayo 251 Delaware Ave Albany NY 12206
22 Hurlbut Street Albany NY 12209 Residential Building 88,000$                 Other Disposition - Sale 03/22/2017 40,000$                 Y Aminatou Mairy 478 Delaware Ave F  Albany NY 12209
255 Livingston Avenue Albany NY 12210 Residential Building 96,000$                 Other Disposition - Sale 03/30/2017 10,000$                 Y Wallace Justin 8 Antoinette Lane Albany NY 12205
326 Broadway Watervliet NY 12189 Residential Building 98,400$                 Other Disposition - Sale 03/13/2017 30,000$                 Y Mehmood Muhammad Khalid 326 Broadway Watervliet NY 12189
24 John David Lane Albany NY 12208 Residential Building 100,000$               Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
1216 4th Avenue Watervliet NY 12189 Residential Building 105,800$               Other Acquisition 07/01/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
2325 Delaware Turnpike New Scotland NY 12186 Residential Building 114,200$               Other Acquisition 01/10/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
115 Lark Street Albany NY 12210 Residential Building 115,000$               Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
31 North Road New Scotland NY 12186 Residential Building 126,000$               Other Acquisition 01/10/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
328 Consaul Road Colonie NY 12205 Residential Vacant Lot 130,800$               Other Acquisition 01/10/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
69 Overlook Avenue Colonie NY 12110 Residential Vacant Lot 13,300$                 Other Acquisition 01/10/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
641 Broadway Watervliet NY 12189 Commercial Building 136,000$               Other Acquisition 09/02/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
Glenmont Road Bethlehem NY 12204 Residential Vacant Lot 139,800$               Other Acquisition 01/10/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207

-----------------------------------------------------   ------------------------------------Note: either Organization or Last Name/First Name are req       



Real Property Disposal Bulk Load Worksheet
Version 1.6
Real Property
In accordance with Public Authorities Law, please provide information on the following: 
Any real property of the authority having an estimated fair market value in excess of $15,000 that the authority either acquired or disposed of during the reporting period.
Columns whose names contain "*" are required and must have values for each record to be loaded.  Do not enter blank lines, as a blank line (a line with no information) will be regarded as the end of the file. Do not enter commas, letters or $ signs in numeric fields.
This worksheet must be saved as type "csv" in order to be uploaded to PARIS.  Select "Save As" from the "File" menu above and select "CSV (comma delimited)" as the file type.
Note: Most cells have some level of validation, however, validation in Excel only functions when you actually type data in the cell.  It is recommended that you selectively check validation in rows that you have copied data into.

* Address Line 1 * City State
* Postal 
Code * Property Description

 * Estimated Fair  
Market Value 
(NOTE: 
ASSESSED 
VALUE USED) 

* How was 
FMV 
determined? 

* Transaction 
Type

* Transaction 
Date

 Purchase/Sale 
Price 

* Was the real 
property 
acquisition/dispos
al transaction 
competitively 
bid?” 

Seller/Purchaser/T
enant 
Organization

Seller/Purchaser/T
enant Last Name

Seller/Purchaser/T
enant First Name * Address Line 1 * City State * Postal Code

-----------------------------------------------------   ------------------------------------Note: either Organization or Last Name/First Name are req       

45.5 aka 0 Cayuga Street Cohoes NY 12047 Residential Vacant Lot 14,100$                 Other Acquisition 09/02/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
58 Columbia Street ExtensionCohoes NY 12047 Commercial Building 147,400$               Other Acquisition 07/01/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
266-268 Yates Street Albany NY 12208 Residential Building 153,000$               Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
163 Ontario Street Albany NY 12206 Residential Vacant Lot 16,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
59 Clinton Street Albany NY 12202 Residential Building 16,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
1A Roosevelt Street Albany NY 12206 Residential Building 163,000$               Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
175 Broad Street Albany NY 12202 Residential Building 17,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
64 Broad Street Albany NY 12202 Residential Vacant Lot 17,600$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
4 Shannon Avenue Cohoes NY 12047 Residential Vacant Lot 18,300$                 Other Acquisition 07/01/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
49 O Connell Street Albany NY 12209 Residential Vacant Lot 18,400$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
841 Huntersland Road Berne NY 12122 Residential Building 18,437$                 Other Acquisition 01/10/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
1233 Broadway Albany NY 12204 Residential Vacant Lot 18,500$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
66 James Street Green Island NY 12183 Residential Vacant Lot 18,900$                 Other Acquisition 01/10/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
94 Henry Johnson Blvd Albany NY 12210 Residential Vacant Lot 19,300$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
141 Henry Johnson Boulevar Albany NY 12210 Residential Vacant Lot 19,900$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
174 Livingston Avenue Albany NY 12206 Residential Building 20,000$                 Other Acquisition 09/26/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
337 Clinton Avenue Albany NY 12210 Residential Building 20,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
33 Ontario Street Albany NY 12206 Residential Building 20,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
1247 Broadway Albany NY 12204 Residential Vacant Lot 20,200$                 Other Acquisition 09/26/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
County Route 413 Westerlo NY 12193 Residential Vacant Lot 20,408$                 Other Acquisition 01/10/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
Field Road Westerlo NY 12193 Residential Vacant Lot 20,408$                 Other Acquisition 01/10/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
53 Watervliet Aveue Albany NY 12206 Residential Vacant Lot 20,600$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
57 Swartson Court Albany NY 12209 Residential Vacant Lot 21,000$                 Other Acquisition 12/06/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
93-101 Cannon Street Green Island NY 12183 Residential Vacant Lot 21,500$                 Other Acquisition 01/10/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
88 West Street Albany NY 12206 Residential Vacant Lot 23,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
Route 9W Bethlehem NY 12158 Residential Vacant Lot 23,100$                 Other Acquisition 09/02/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
448 Bradford Street Albany NY 12206 Residential Building 25,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
24 Center Street Albany NY 12204 Residential Building 25,000$                 Other Acquisition 12/01/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
82 Grand Street Albany NY 12202 Residential Building 25,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
34 Second Avenue Albany NY 12202 Residential Building 25,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
281 Sheridan Avenue Albany NY 12210 Residential Building 25,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
683 State Street Albany NY 12203 Residential Building 25,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
54 lexington Avenue Albany NY 12206 Residential Building 25,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
13 Oriole Avenue Albany NY 12209 Residential Vacant Lot 25,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
117 Main Street Ravena NY 12143 Residential Vacant Lot 25,900$                 Other Acquisition 09/02/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
Elm Avenue Bethlehem NY 12054 Residential Vacant Lot 25,900$                 Other Acquisition 01/10/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
River Road Coeymans NY 12143 Residential Vacant Lot 26,000$                 Other Acquisition 01/10/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
316 Sheridan Avenue Albany NY 12206 Residential Building 27,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
51 Watervliet Avenue Albany NY 12206 Residential Vacant Lot 27,600$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
1401 6th Avenue Watervliet NY 12189 Residential Vacant Lot 29,800$                 Other Acquisition 07/01/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
139 Dana Avenue Albany NY 12208 Residential Building 30,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
134 Green Street Albany NY 12202 Residential Building 32,000$                 Other Acquisition 09/26/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207



Real Property Disposal Bulk Load Worksheet
Version 1.6
Real Property
In accordance with Public Authorities Law, please provide information on the following: 
Any real property of the authority having an estimated fair market value in excess of $15,000 that the authority either acquired or disposed of during the reporting period.
Columns whose names contain "*" are required and must have values for each record to be loaded.  Do not enter blank lines, as a blank line (a line with no information) will be regarded as the end of the file. Do not enter commas, letters or $ signs in numeric fields.
This worksheet must be saved as type "csv" in order to be uploaded to PARIS.  Select "Save As" from the "File" menu above and select "CSV (comma delimited)" as the file type.
Note: Most cells have some level of validation, however, validation in Excel only functions when you actually type data in the cell.  It is recommended that you selectively check validation in rows that you have copied data into.

* Address Line 1 * City State
* Postal 
Code * Property Description

 * Estimated Fair  
Market Value 
(NOTE: 
ASSESSED 
VALUE USED) 
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enant 
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Seller/Purchaser/T
enant Last Name

Seller/Purchaser/T
enant First Name * Address Line 1 * City State * Postal Code

-----------------------------------------------------   ------------------------------------Note: either Organization or Last Name/First Name are req       

236 Vly Road Colonie NY 12205 Residential Vacant Lot 32,400$                 Other Acquisition 09/02/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
54 First Avenue Albany NY 12202 Residential Vacant Lot 3,300$                   Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
48 Sherman Street Albany NY 12206 Commercial Vacant Lot 33,200$                 Other Acquisition 09/26/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
10 Vliet Street Cohoes NY 12047 Residential Building 34,500$                 Other Acquisition 07/01/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
4646 Western Turnpike Guilderland NY 12009 Residential Vacant Lot 34,600$                 Other Acquisition 01/10/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
66 Spawn Hollow Rd Selkirk NY 12158 Residential Vacant Lot 35,000$                 Other Acquisition 09/02/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
1293 Route 9W Bethlehem NY 12158 Residential Building 35,000$                 Other Acquisition 01/10/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
1268 US Route 9W Bethlehem NY 12158 Residential Vacant Lot 36,200$                 Other Acquisition 09/02/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
River Road Bethlehem NY 12054 Residential Vacant Lot 36,300$                 Other Acquisition 01/10/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
8-10 Bleecker Street Green Island NY 12183 Residential Vacant Lot 37,500$                 Other Acquisition 01/10/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
181 Sheridan Avenue Albany NY 12206 Residential Building 38,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
91 Krumkill Road Albany NY 12208 Residential Vacant Lot 38,300$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
30 Simmons Lane Menands NY 12204 Commercial Vacant Lot 40,000$                 Other Acquisition 09/02/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
148 Whitbeck Road Coeymans NY 12046 Residential Vacant Lot 40,000$                 Other Acquisition 09/02/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
13 Krank Street Albany NY 12202 Residential Building 40,000$                 Other Acquisition 12/06/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
480 Elk Street Albany NY 12206 Residential Building 40,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
County Route 405 Westerlo NY 12193 Residential Vacant Lot 40,816$                 Other Acquisition 01/10/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
113 Lancaster Street Cohoes NY 12047 Residential Building 43,100$                 Other Acquisition 07/01/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
14 Stephen Street Albany NY 12202 Residential Building 45,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
69 Second Street Albany NY 12210 Residential Building 48,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
51 Egbert Street Cohoes NY 12047 Residential Vacant Lot 50,000$                 Other Acquisition 07/01/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
47 Cayuga Street Cohoes NY 12047 Residential Vacant Lot 50,000$                 Other Acquisition 07/01/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
523 S Pearl Street Albany NY 12202 Residential Vacant Lot 51,900$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
436 Elk Street Albany NY 12206 Residential Building 53,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
270 Third Street Albany NY 12206 Residential Building 55,000$                 Other Acquisition 12/06/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
100 Philip Street Albany NY 12202 Commercial Building 55,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
260 Second Street Albany NY 12206 Residential Building 58,000$                 Other Acquisition 12/06/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
91 1/2 Central Ave Cohoes NY 12047 Residential Building 60,000$                 Other Acquisition 09/02/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
138 Morton Avenue Albany NY 12202 Residential Building 60,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
41 Quail Street Albany NY 12206 Residential Building 60,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
183 Quail Street Albany NY 12203 Residential Building 60,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
410 14th Street Watervliet NY 12189 Residential Vacant Lot 62,600$                 Other Acquisition 07/01/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
123 Second Street Albany NY 12210 Residential Building 63,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
20 13th Street Watervliet NY 12189 Residential building 67,200$                 Other Acquisition 07/01/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
107 Congress Street Cohoes NY 12047 Residential Building 67,900$                 Other Acquisition 07/01/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
361 Orange Street Albany NY 12206 Residential Building 68,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
166 Livingston Avenue Albany NY 12210 Residential Building 69,000$                 Other Acquisition 09/26/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
Krumkill Road New Scotland NY 12203 Residential Vacant Lot 72,500$                 Other Acquisition 01/10/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
532 Delaware Avenue Albany NY 12209 Residential Building 77,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
481 Third Street Albany NY 12206 Residential Building 77,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
350 Second Street Albany NY 12206 Residential Building 80,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
410 Clinton Avenue Albany NY 12201 Residential Building 82,000$                 Other Acquisition 12/06/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207



Real Property Disposal Bulk Load Worksheet
Version 1.6
Real Property
In accordance with Public Authorities Law, please provide information on the following: 
Any real property of the authority having an estimated fair market value in excess of $15,000 that the authority either acquired or disposed of during the reporting period.
Columns whose names contain "*" are required and must have values for each record to be loaded.  Do not enter blank lines, as a blank line (a line with no information) will be regarded as the end of the file. Do not enter commas, letters or $ signs in numeric fields.
This worksheet must be saved as type "csv" in order to be uploaded to PARIS.  Select "Save As" from the "File" menu above and select "CSV (comma delimited)" as the file type.
Note: Most cells have some level of validation, however, validation in Excel only functions when you actually type data in the cell.  It is recommended that you selectively check validation in rows that you have copied data into.
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-----------------------------------------------------   ------------------------------------Note: either Organization or Last Name/First Name are req       

134 Green Street Albany NY 12202 Residential Building 83,000$                 Other Acquisition 09/26/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
136 Livingston Avenue Albany NY 12210 Residential Building 85,000$                 Other Acquisition 12/06/2016 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
23 O Connell Street Albany NY 12209 Residential Building 86,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
500 County Route 353 Rensselaerville NY 12147 Residential Building 89,000$                 Other Acquisition 01/10/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
2188 Tarrytown Road New Scotland NY 12041 Residential Building 90,000$                 Other Acquisition 01/10/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
391 Third Street Albany NY 12202 Residential Building 98,000$                 Other Acquisition 02/23/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
25 Lacy Lane Colonie NY 12211 Residential Building 171,000$               Other Acquisition 01/10/2017 1$                          N Albany County 112 State Street Albany NY 12207
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By-Laws Revised June 2015 Albany County Land Bank 1 

 
 

BY-LAWS OF THE 

Albany County Land Bank Corporation 
 

 

ARTICLE I 

 

PRIMARY PURPOSE 

 

SECTION 1. Primary Purpose: This Corporation was formed pursuant to Article 16 of the 

Not-for-Profit Corporation Law and is a charitable not-for-profit corporation. The primary 

purpose for which it is formed is to facilitate the return  of  tax-delinquent  properties  to 

productive use as well as the  acquisition  of  real  property  that  is  tax  delinquent,  tax 

foreclosed,  vacant,  abandoned, and to  eliminate  the  harms  and  liabilities  caused   by   such 

properties.  

 

SECTION 2. Name: The name of the corporation shall be as provided in its Certificate of 

Incorporation and is currently the Albany County Land Bank Corporation. 

 

SECTION 3. Seal: The Corporation’s seal shall be in the form of a circle and shall bear the 

name of the Corporation and the year of its organization, surrounding the picture of the 

Halfmoon, the ship captained by Henry Hudson as depicted on the seal for Albany County. The 

seal may be used by causing it, or a facsimile thereof, to be impressed or affixed or otherwise 

reproduced. 

  

SECTION 4. Office: The office of the Albany County Land Bank shall be located in Albany 

County at such location as designated by the board of directors. 

 

 

ARTICLE II 

 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

 

SECTION 1. Power of Board and Qualification of Directors: Each Director shall be at least  

eighteen (18) years of age. The Corporation shall be managed by its Board of Directors who 

shall exercise oversight and control over the officers and staff of the Corporation. The Board 

shall have all powers conferred on Boards of not-for-profit corporations pursuant to New York 

State law, or any other law that is applicable to the Corporation. 

SECTION 2. Number, Election and Term of Office:  



 

By-Laws Revised June 2015 Albany County Land Bank 2 

(a) Number of Directors: The entire Board of Directors, which shall consist of an odd number of 

members, and shall not be less than seven (7) members. 

  

(b) Term of Office: The Directors of the Board of Directors shall serve until their successors 

have been appointed as set forth in Section 2(c).  

 

(c) Election: Each initial director shall hold office until December 31, 2015, and all directors 

thereafter shall occupy terms concurrent with the terms of the members of the Albany County 

legislature. Directors may succeed themselves. Additional Directors shall be appointed by and 

serve at the pleasure of the Albany County Legislature.  

 

The appointment and reappointment of all Directors shall occur at the commencement of every 

four year Legislative term starting with January 1, 2016. Members shall be deemed holdovers 

until such action has occurred.   

 

SECTION 3. Vacancies: Vacancies occurring in any office shall be filled forthwith by a vote of 

the Albany County Legislature. 

 

SECTION 4.  Independence:  

(a) No director, including the Chairman of the Board shall serve as the Corporation’s Executive 

Director, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Comptroller, or hold any other 

equivalent executive position or office while also serving as a board member. 

 

(b) In compliance with Section 2825 of the New York Public Authorities Law, the majority of 

the Board shall be independent, as such term is defined in paragraph (c) below.  

 

(c) Independence.  For the purposes of these Bylaws, an independent board member is one who:  

 

1. is not, and in the past two (2) years has not been employed by the Corporation or 

another corporate body having the same ownership and control of the Corporation 

in an executive capacity;  

2. is not, and in the past two (2) years has not been employed by an entity that 

received remuneration valued at more that fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000) for 

goods and services provided to the Corporation or received any other form of 

financial assistance valued at more than fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000) from 

the Corporation;  

3. is not a relative of an executive officer or employee in an executive position of the 

Corporation or another corporate body having the same ownership and control of 

the Corporation; and  

4. is not, and in the past two (2) years has not been a lobbyist registered under a state 

or local law and paid by a client to influence the management decisions, contract 

awards, rate determinations or any other similar actions of the Corporation or 

another corporate body having the same ownership and control of the 

Corporation.  

 

(d) Each member shall have one vote. 
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(e) In accordance with Section 2825(3) of the New York Public Authorities Law, Board 

members, officers, and employees of the Corporation shall file annual financial disclosure 

statements with the county board of ethics for the county in which the local public authority has 

its primary office pursuant to article eighteen of the general municipal law. 

 

SECTION 5. Resignation and Removal of Directors:  
(a) Any Director of the Corporation may resign at any time on delivery of written notice to the  

Chairperson or the Secretary. Such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein or, if 

no time be specified, then on delivery.  

 

(b) Any Director may be removed for neglect of duty or misconduct in office, or may be 

removed pursuant to any other provision of New York law, by vote of a 2/3 of the entire Board 

of Directors. In the event of a removal of any such Director, the Board of Directors shall select 

and recommend to the Albany County Legislature a successor Director to serve the remaining 

term of the removed Director he or she replaces.  

 

(c) Any Director who participates in less than 65 percent of the Board meetings over  

his/her term on an annual basis shall be automatically removed unless the Director provides 

documented medical reasons for non-participation. In the event of removal for non-participation, 

the Board of Directors shall elect and recommend to the Albany County Legislature a successor 

Director within ninety days to serve the remaining term of the removed Director he or she 

replaces.  

 

SECTION 6. Organization: At each meeting of the Board of Directors, the Chairperson shall 

preside. The Secretary as designated by resolution shall act as Secretary of the Board of 

Directors. In the event the Chairperson shall be absent from any meeting of the Board of 

Directors, the Vice Chairperson shall preside. In the event the Secretary shall be absent from any 

meeting of the Board of Directors, the Directors at the meeting shall select via voice vote an 

alternative member to serve as such.   

 

SECTION 7. Place of Meetings: The Board of Directors shall hold its meetings in Albany 

County, New York, or at such place or places within or without the State of New York as the 

Board of Directors may from time to time by resolution determine. Said meetings shall be open 

to the public. The Board may go into executive session as permitted by New York Public 

Officers Law §105.  

 

SECTION 8. Annual Meetings: The Annual Meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held in 

July or in such other month as the Board of Directors determines, at which time the Directors 

elect directors and officers and transact such other business as may properly come before the 

meeting.  

 

SECTION 9. Regular Meetings of Directors: Monthly, regular meetings of the Board of 

Directors may be held at such place or places within Albany County, NY as the Board may from 

time to time by resolution determine. Notice of the time and place of regular meetings scheduled 

shall be provided to the news media at least seventy-two hours prior thereto. Public notice shall 
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also be conspicuously posted at the Land Bank’s current office and on the Land Bank’s website 

at least 72 hours before such meeting.  

 

SECTION 10. Special Meetings: Special Meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by 

the Chairperson, or by the Secretary upon the demand of any three or more members of the 

Board of Directors. The Secretary of the corporation upon receiving the written demand shall 

promptly give notice of such meeting, or if he fails to do so within five (5) business days 

thereafter, any member signing such demand may give such notice. Notice shall be given by 

electronic mail or regular mail, and shall state the purposes, time and place of the meeting. 

Special meetings shall not occur less than two nor more than three months from the date of 

written demand. Such notice shall be given, to the extent practicable, to the news media and shall 

be conspicuously posted in one or more designated public locations at a reasonable time prior 

thereto. 

 

SECTION 11. Action by the Board: Except as provided in section 1605(i) of the state Not For 

Profit Corporation Law, Public Authorities Law, or in these by-laws, an act of the Board means 

action taken at a meeting of the Board by vote of a majority of the Members present at the time 

of the vote, if a quorum is present at such time. The following matters must be approved by a 2/3 

of the total board membership:  

(a) Adoption and amendment of By-Laws and other rules and regulations for conduct of the land 

bank’s business;  

(b) Hiring and firing of any employee or contractor of the Land Bank, unless this function has 

been delegated by majority vote of the total board membership to a specified officer or 

committee of the Land Bank, under such terms and conditions, and to the extent, that the  

board may specify;  

(c) The incurring of debt;  

(d) Adoption or amendment of the annual budget; and  

(e) The sale, lease, encumbrance, or alienation of real property, improvements, or personal 

property;  

(f) The removal of a director. 

 

SECTION 12. Actions by the Board Without a Meeting 

Any action required or permitted  to  be  taken  by  the board  or  any  committee  thereof may be 

taken without a meeting if all members of the board or the committee  consent  to  the  adoption  

of  a resolution  authorizing  the  action.  Such consent may be written or electronic. If written, 

the consent must be executed by the director  by signing  such  consent  or causing his or her 

signature to be affixed to such consent by any reasonable means  including,  but  not  limited  to, 

facsimile  signature.    If  electronic, the transmission of the consent must be sent by electronic 

mail and set forth,  or  be  submitted  with, information  from  which  it  can  reasonably  be  

determined  that  the transmission was authorized by the  director.  The resolution and the written 

consents thereto by the members of the board or committee shall be filed with the minutes of the 

proceedings of the board or committee.  Such consent will have the same effect as a unanimous 

vote.  
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SECTION 13. Waivers of Notice: Notice of a meeting need not be given to any Director who  

submits a signed waiver of notice, whether before or after the meeting, or who attends the 

meeting without protesting, prior thereto or at its commencement, the lack of notice to him or 

her.  

 

SECTION 14. Quorum: A majority of the number of directors fixed by these Bylaws shall 

constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. The act of a majority of the directors present 

at a meeting at which a quorum is present will be the act of the board of directors, unless the 

action by law, requires a majority or 2/3 vote of the entire board. 

 

SECTION 15. Compensation: The Board of Directors shall receive no compensation for their  

service as Directors but may be reimbursed for the expenses reasonably incurred by them in the  

performance of their duties, annual training, on-going development and/or conducting research. 

 

SECTION 16. Annual Report to Board: The Chairperson and the Treasurer shall prepare and 

present no less than 60 days and not more than 90 days after the end of its fiscal year, an annual 

report, as required by Section 519 of the New York Not-For-Profit Corporation Law, and Section 

2800 of the Public Authorities Law. The annual report shall be submitted to the state Authorities 

Board Office, the Chairman of the Albany County Legislature, and filed with the minutes of the 

annual meeting of the board. The report shall be verified by the Chairperson and Treasurer and 

certified by a firm of independent accountants selected by the Board and shall show, in 

appropriate detail, the following:  

(a) Operations and accomplishments of the Land Bank;  

(b) Financial reports; 

(c) Mission statement and performance measurement report;  

(d) Receipts and disbursements during the fiscal year, and assets and liabilities Bond schedule to 

include refinancings, refundings, defeasements, and bond insurance costs;  

(e) A compensation schedule and biographical information for any employee or officer whose 

salary is in excess of $100,000;  

(f) The projects undertaken by the Land Bank during the past year;  

(g) A listing and description (including price rec’d and name of purchaser), of all real property of 

the Land Bank having an estimated fair market value in excess of $15,000 that the Land 

Bank acquires or disposes of during the reporting period;  

(h) The Land Bank’s code of ethics;  

(i) Internal control assessment;  

(j) A copy of the legislation authorizing the Land Bank; 

(k) A description of the authority and its board structure; 

(l) Its Articles of Incorporation and By-laws; 

(m) A listing of material changes in operation and programs during the reporting year; 

(n) A 4-year financial plan, including a current and projected capital budget with an actual 

versus estimated budget;  

(o) Board performance evaluations  

(p) A description of the total amounts of assets, services or both assets and services bought or 

sold without competitive bidding, including:  

1. The nature of those assets and services,  

2. The names of the counterparties,  
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3. Description of assets and services bought or sold without competitive bidding, their 

nature, names of parties involved, contract price compared to fair market value, a detailed 

explanation justifying the purchase or sale without competitive bidding, certification by 

Chairman and Treasurer that terms of purchase or sale were reviewed and comply with 

procurement guidelines; and  

(q) A description of any material pending litigation.  

 

SECTION 17. Annual Report to Albany County: Pursuant to the New York Not-for-Profit 

Corporation Law §1612 the Chairperson shall prepare and present the annual report to the 

County Legislature, in oral and written form. 

 

SECTION 18. Annual Self-Evaluation: Pursuant to Section 2824-a of the Public Authorities 

Law, the Board must provide the state independent Authorities Budget Office with a mission 

statement and proposed measurements report that describes the purpose and goals of the 

authority, a description of the stakeholders, its reasonable expectations of the Land Bank, and a 

list of measurements by which performance of the Land Bank and achievement of its goals will 

be evaluated. The Land Bank must publish a self-evaluation annual based on the stated 

measurements. 

 

SECTION 19. Participation in Meeting by Telephone: To the extent permitted by law, any 

one or more of the Board, or any Committee thereof, may participate in a meeting of such Board 

or Committee by means of a conference telephone or similar communications equipment 

allowing all persons participating in the meeting to hear each other at the same time so long as 

there is at least one location where a board member participates where attendance by the public 

is permissible. Participation by such means shall constitute presence in person at a meeting. 

Members shall make every effort to attend each meeting in person. 

 

SECTION 20. Conflicts of Interest: No member of the Board, Advisory Board or Staff shall 

acquire any interest, direct or indirect, in real property of the Corporation, in any real property to 

be acquired by the Corporation, or in any real property to be acquired from the Corporation. No 

member of the Board, Community Advisory Committee or Staff shall have any interest, direct or 

indirect, in any contract or proposed contract for materials or services to be furnished or used by 

the Corporation.  

 

SECTION 21. Interested Directors and Related Party Transactions:  The Association may 

not enter into any related party transaction unless the transaction is determined to be fair and 

reasonable and in the corporation’s best interest at the time of such determination.  The 

Association shall adopt and maintain a policy for the approval or disapproval of Related Party 

Transactions and said policy shall be deemed to be incorporated herein. 

 

SECTION 22. Annual Training: Pursuant to Section 2824 of the Public Authorities Law, 

within one year of appointment to the Board, each member must participate in state approved 

training regarding their legal, fiduciary, financial and ethical responsibilities as directors. Board 

members shall participate in continued training as may be required to remain informed of best 

practices, regulatory and statutory changes relating to the effective oversight of the management 

and financial activities of the Corporation.  
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ARTICLE III 

 

OFFICERS  

 

SECTION 1. Number: The officers of the Corporation shall consist of a Chairperson/President, 

Vice-Chairperson/Vice-President, Secretary, and Treasurer, and such other officers as the Board 

of Directors, may, in its discretion, elect. Any two or more offices may be held by the same 

person, except the offices of Chairperson/President and Treasurer.  

 

SECTION 2.  Duties 

2.1 Chairperson/President of the Board: The Chairperson/President of the Board will 

preside at all annual and special meetings of the Board of Directors. The Chairperson/President 

shall serve a one-year term. The Chairperson/President is charged with the general responsibility 

of carrying out the policies of the Board between meetings of said Board. In general, he/she shall 

supervise the business and affairs of the Corporation, and in general shall perform all duties 

incident to the office of Chairperson/President and such other duties as may be prescribed by the 

Board of Directors from time to time.  

 

The Chairperson/President shall sign, as authorized by the Board of Directors, any deeds, 

mortgages, bonds, contracts or other instruments which the Board of Directors has authorized to 

be executed, except in those instances where approval of others or the signature of others is 

expressly required by the By-Laws, or by any law of the State of New York.  

 

2.2 Vice Chairperson/Vice-President: In the absence of the Chairperson/President or in the 

event of his/her inability, removal, or refusal to act, the Vice Chairperson/Vice-President shall 

perform the duties of the Chairperson/President, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of 

and be subject to all restrictions placed upon the Chairperson/President. The Vice 

Chairperson/Vice-President shall perform such duties as from time to time may be assigned to 

him/her by the Chairperson/President or by the Board of Directors.  

 

2.3 Treasurer: The Treasurer or his/her Board-approved designee shall receive, hold and be 

responsible for all financial matters and funds of the Corporation and shall deposit said funds in 

the name of the Corporation in such banks or banking institutions as directed to by the Board of 

Directors and Land Bank staff. The Treasurer shall keep a true and accurate account of all 

receipts and disbursements and said books of account shall be open to inspection of any Director 

at the office of the Corporation upon request. The Treasurer shall also perform all other duties 

customarily incident to the office of the Treasurer and such other duties as from time to time may 

be assigned to the Board. 

2.4 Secretary: The Secretary or his/her Board-approved designee shall keep an accurate 

record of all proceedings of the meetings of the Board of Directors. The Secretary shall also be 

responsible for proper safe keeping of the papers and correspondence of the Corporation and as 

custodian of the corporate records, shall insure that the Corporation remains in good standing 

under the laws of the State of New York, reporting on that subject to the Chairperson. Further, 

the Secretary shall with the Chairperson execute any formal documents requiring the presence of 

the corporate seal. The Secretary shall give notice to the Directors of their respective meetings, 
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and shall generally perform all duties usually appertaining to the office of Secretary. The Board 

of Directors may designate an assistant secretary.  

 

 

SECTION 3. Election: All officers of the Corporation shall be elected at the annual meeting of 

the Board of Directors.  

 

SECTION 4. Term of Office: All officers shall hold office until their successors have been duly  

appointed or until removed as hereinafter provided.  

 

 

SECTION 5. Additional Officers: Additional officers may be selected for such period, have 

such authority and perform such duties, either in an administrative or subordinate capacity, as the 

Board of Directors may from time to time determine.  

 

SECTION 6. Resignation: Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the  

Chairperson or the Secretary. Any such resignation shall take effect upon receipt of said notice, 

or the effective date in said notice. 

 

 

ARTICLE IV 

 

Executive Director 

 

SECTION 1. Executive Director.  The Corporation may select and retain an Executive Director 

by resolution.  

 

SECTION 2. Duties and Responsibilities of Executive Director   The Executive Director shall 

report to the Chair of the Board of the Corporation, and at the monthly regular meetings of the 

Board of Directors. He or she shall have general supervision and management of the Corporation 

and all Corporation staff and employees shall report directly to the Executive Director. Except as 

may otherwise be authorized by a resolution adopted by the Board, the Executive Director shall: 

(a) Cosign all purchase orders and instruments and check over certain dollar thresholds as is 

established by the Corporation’s procurement policy, or by resolution of the Board; 

(b) Prepare the annual budget of the Corporation with the consultation and cooperation of the 

Audit and Finance Committees and the Chairman of the Board, for submission to the Board for 

approval;  

(c) Lead the Corporation to carry out its Mission Statement and fulfill its public purposes;  

(d) Serve as the Corporation’s “Compliance Officer” (as such term is defined in Section 2895 of 

New York’s Public Authority Law) responsible for ensuring that the Corporation complies with 

all financial and other reporting requirements imposed by law, including those requirements in 

the General Municipal Law and Public Authorities Law of New York State; and 

(e) Perform all other duties customarily incident to the office of the Executive Director of a land 

bank corporation and local public authority of the State of New York and such other duties as 

from time to time may be assigned by the Board. 
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ARTICLE V 

COMMITTEES 

Section 1.  Standing Committees  The Standing Committees of the Corporation are:   Executive 

Committee, Finance Committee, Audit Committee and Governance Committee. 

(a) Members of standing committees shall be appointed by the Chairperson/Board President 

for a one (1) year term or, in the case of appointments due to vacancy(ies), from the time of 

appointment, and ending at the close of the fiscal year;    

(b) Each committee must consist of at least 3 directors; 

(c) The Chair of the Finance Committee shall be the Treasurer;  

(d) The Chairs of all other standing committees shall be annually appointed by the Board 

Chairperson/President from the members of the committee for a term beginning at the time of 

the appointment and ending at the close of the fiscal year. 

Section 2.  Other Committees  The Board Chairperson/President and/or the Board of Directors 

has the authority to establish such other committees as may be necessary from time to time.  

Each committee shall consist of at least 3 directors. 

(a) Members of Special Committees shall be appointed by the Board Chairperson/President, 

for a term beginning at the time of the appointment and ending at the close of the fiscal year, 

or sooner if the special committee work is completed; 

(b) The chairs of special committees shall be appointed from the committee membership for 

a term beginning at the time of the appointment and ending at the close of the fiscal year.   

Section 3.  Executive Committee 

The board of directors may, by a majority vote of the entire board, designate an Executive 

Committee and may delegate to such committee the powers and authority of the board in the 

management of the business and affairs of the corporation, to the extent permitted, and, except as 

may otherwise be provided, by provisions of law. 

The Executive Committee shall have, and may exercise, all the powers of the Board between 

meetings of the Board, except that it shall not have authority to: 

(a) Fill vacancies in the Board or in any Committee;   

(b) Amend or repeal these By-Laws, or adopt new By-Laws;   

(c) Amend or appeal any resolution of the Board unless, by its terms, such resolution is so 

amendable or repealable; 
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(d) Purchase or sell property. 

By a majority vote of its members, the board may at any time revoke or modify any or all of 

the executive committee authority so delegated, increase or decrease but not below three (3) 

the number of the members of the Executive Committee, and fill vacancies on the Executive 

Committee from the members of the board. The Executive Committee shall keep regular 

minutes of its proceedings, cause them to be filed with the corporate records, and report the 

same to the board from time to time as the board may require. 

Section 4.  Finance Committee   The Finance Committee shall provide financial oversight for 

the organization, including budgeting and financial planning, financial reporting, and the creation 

and monitoring of internal controls and accountability policies.  In addition the committee shall 

also: 

(a)  Review budgets initially prepared by the Treasurer and Finance Committee to help 

develop appropriate procedures for budget preparations (such as meaningful involvement 

by staff), and on a consistency between the budget and the organization's plans; 

(b) Report to the board any financial irregularities, concerns, opportunities; 

(c) Recommend financial guidelines to the board (such as to establish a reserve fund or to 

obtain a line of credit for a specified amount); 

(d) Work with staff to design financial reports and ensure that reports are accurate and 

timely; 

(e) Oversee short and long-term investments, unless there is a separate investments 

committee; and 

(f) Advise the executive director and other appropriate staff on financial priorities and 

information systems, depending on committee member expertise. 

Section 5.  Audit Committee  The Audit Committee shall oversee the accounting and financial 

reporting processes of the corporation and the audit of the corporation’s financial statements.  

The Committee shall annually retain an independent auditor to conduct the audit and upon the 

completion thereof, review the results of the Audit and any related management letter with the 

auditor.  In addition the committee shall also: 

(a) Review with the auditor the scope and planning of the audit prior to the audit’s 

commencement; 

(b) Upon completion of the audit, review and discuss with the independent auditor: (A) 

any material risks and weaknesses in internal controls identified by the auditor; (B) 

any restrictions on the scope of the auditor’s activities or access to requested 

information; 

(C) any significant disagreements between auditor and management;  

(d) Review the adequacy of the corporation’s accounting and financial reporting processes; 

(e) Annually consider the performance and independence of the auditor; and 

(f) Report on the audit committee’s activities to the entire board. 

 



 

By-Laws Revised June 2015 Albany County Land Bank 11 

The Audit Committee shall also oversee the adoption, implementation of, and compliance with, 

any conflict of interest and whistleblower policies adopted by the Board.  Only independent 

directors may participate in any deliberations by this committee or voting relating to matters set 

forth herein. 

Section 6. Governance Committee   The governance committee is responsible for ongoing 

review and recommendations to enhance the quality and future viability of the board of directors. 

The work of the committee revolves around the following five major areas: 

1. Board Role and Responsibilities 

(a) Leads the board in regularly reviewing and updating the board’s statement of its roles and 

areas of responsibility, and what is expected of individual board members; 

(b) Assists the board in periodically updating and clarifying the primary areas of focus for the 

board, shapes the board’s agenda for the next year or two, based on the strategic plan. 

 

2. Board Composition 

(a) Leads in assessing current and anticipated needs related to board composition, 

determining the knowledge, attributes, skills, abilities, influence, and access to resources the 

board will need to consider in order to accomplish future work of the board; 

(b) Develops a profile of the board as it should evolve over time; 

(c) Identifies potential board member candidates and explores their interest and availability 

for board service; 

(d) Where appropriate, nominates individuals to be elected as members of the board; 

(e) In cooperation with the board chair, contacts each board member to assess his or her 

continuing interest in board membership and term of service and works with each board 

member to identify the appropriate role he or she might assume on behalf of the organization. 

 

3. Board Knowledge 

(a) Designs and oversees a process of board orientation, including gathering information 

prior to election as board member and information needed during the early stage of board 

service; 

(b) Designs and implements an ongoing program of board information and education. 

 

4. Board Effectiveness 

(a) Initiates periodic assessment of the board’s performance. Proposes, as appropriate, 

changes in board structure and operations; 



 

By-Laws Revised June 2015 Albany County Land Bank 12 

(b) Provides ongoing counsel to the board chair and other board leaders on steps they might 

take to enhance board effectiveness; 

(c) Regularly reviews the board’s practices regarding member participation, conflict of 

interest, etc., and suggests improvements as needed; 

(d) Periodically reviews and updates the board’s policy guidelines and practices. 

 

5. Board Leadership 

(a) Takes the lead in succession planning, taking steps to recruit and prepare future board 

members; 

(b) Nominates board members for election as board officers. 

 

SECTION 7. Resident Community Advisory Committee: There shall be created, pursuant to 

Resolution 68 for 2014 a Resident Community Advisory Committee. Such committee, as well as 

the number of members thereof, shall be established by a resolution duly adopted by the Board 

of Directors. Members of said committee shall be residents within Albany County. 

(a) The purpose of this committee shall be to advise the land bank staff and board on land bank 

activities in their respective communities throughout the county, as well as to keep residents of 

those areas appraised of land bank activities and provide them the opportunity to comment. The 

Committee will work with the board to develop a set of acquisition and disposition priorities and 

policies. The land bank may employ a not-for-profit corporation that serves the specific 

neighborhood to assist the Committees in this process.  

(b) The Committee, and any sub committees established thereof within said committee will keep 

the board informed about developing conditions and opportunities related to vacant or delinquent 

property in their coverage areas. The Committees will develop ways to keep stakeholders in their 

areas informed of land bank activities and opportunities, will solicit input from stakeholders and 

convey it to the Board.   

(c) At a minimum, the committee, and any sub-committees established thereof within said 

committee shall, in conjunction with land bank staff, hold a well-advertised annual public 

hearing to take input on their priorities and goals and to present a report on their 

recommendations throughout the year as compared to the final decisions made for the same 

properties. In addition, the committee may, by majority vote, call for a public meeting of the land 

bank Board for the same purpose. 

(d) The Board will keep the Committees informed of potential acquisitions and development 

opportunities in their areas and will afford the Committees adequate time to review and make 

recommendations on all purchases or sales that don’t fall within a predetermined set of routine 

transfers (e.g. side lot sales). All decisions shall be made collaboratively with the municipality’s 

planning staff and the relevant Committee. 

(e) Any Committee member may be removed with cause by the Board or the Executive Director. 

Section 8.  Ad-Hoc Committees   The corporation shall have such other committees as may, 

from time to time, be designated by resolution of the board of directors. These committees must 
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consist of at least three board members and may consist of persons who are not also members of 

the board and shall act in an advisory capacity to the board. 

Section 9.   Meetings and Action of Committees   Unless otherwise provided by the 

corporation’s By-laws, meetings of committees shall be held at such time and place as shall be 

fixed by the respective committee Chair or by vote of a majority of all of the members of the 

committee.  Written minutes of the proceedings of all meetings of each committee shall be kept 

by a member appointed by the committee Chair and shall be reported at the next regular meeting 

of the Board. 

Section 10. Action by a Committee without a Meeting   Whenever under the Not-For-Profit 

Corporation Law a committee is required or permitted to take any action by vote, such action 

may be taken without a meeting if all members of the board or the committee consent to the 

adoption of a resolution authorizing the action.  Such consent may be written or electronic. If 

written, the consent must be executed by the director  by signing  such  consent  or causing his or 

her signature to be affixed to such consent by any reasonable means  including,  but  not  limited  

to, facsimile  signature.    If  electronic, the transmission of the consent must be sent by 

electronic mail and set forth,  or  be  submitted  with, information  from  which  it  can  

reasonably  be  determined  that  the transmission was authorized by the  director.  The resolution 

and the written consents thereto by the members of the board or committee shall be filed with the 

minutes of the proceedings of the board or committee.  Such consent will have the same effect as 

a unanimous vote.  

Section 11. Quorum and Manner of Acting   Unless otherwise provided by resolution of the 

board or these By-Laws, a committee must have no less than three members who are board 

members present for a vote.  A majority of all members of a committee shall constitute a quorum 

for the transaction of business, and the vote of a majority of all of the committee members in 

attendance shall be the act of the committee. 

 

 

ARTICLE VI 

 

CONTRACTS, CHECKS, DRAFTS AND BANK ACCOUNTS 

 

SECTION 1. Execution of Contracts: The Board of Directors, except as otherwise provided in 

these By-Laws and Article 16 of the Not-for-Profit Law, may authorize any officer or officers, 

agent or agents in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation, to enter into any contract or 

execute and deliver any instrument and such authority may be general or confined to specific 

instances but, unless so authorized by the Board of Directors or expressly authorized by these 

By-Laws, no officer, agent or employee shall have any power or authority to bind the 

Corporation by any contract or engagement or to pledge its credit or to render it liable 

pecuniarily in any amount for any purpose.  
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SECTION 2. Loans: No loans shall be contracted on behalf of the Corporation unless 

specifically authorized by the Board of Directors.  

 

SECTION 3. Checks, Drafts, etc.: All checks, drafts and other orders for the payment of 

money out of the funds of the Corporation, shall be signed by the Executive Director, Chair or 

Treasurer on behalf of the Corporation in such manner, from time to time, be determined by 

these By-Laws, by the Corporation’s procurement policy, or by resolution of the Board.  

 

SECTION 4. Deposits: All funds of the Corporation not otherwise employed shall be deposited  

from time to time to the credit of the Corporation in such banks, trust companies or other 

depositories or in such other investments as the Board of Directors may select.  

 

 

 

 

ARTICLE VII 

 

INDEMNIFICATION & INSURANCE 

 

SECTION 1. Authorized Indemnification: Unless clearly prohibited by law or Section 2 of 

this Article, the Corporation shall indemnify any person (“Indemnified Person”) made, or 

threatened to be made, a party in any action or proceeding, whether civil, or criminal, 

administrative, investigative, or otherwise, including any action by or in the right of the 

Corporation, by reason of the fact that he or she (or his or her executor or administrator) whether 

before or after adoption of this Section, (a) is or was a Member or officer of the Corporation, or 

(b) in addition is serving or served in any capacity at the request of the Corporation, as a Member 

or officer of any other corporation,  or any partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan 

or other enterprise. The indemnification shall be against all judgments, fines, penalties, amounts 

paid in settlement (provided the Corporation shall have consented to such settlement) and 

reasonable expenses, including attorney’s fees and costs of investigation, incurred by any 

Indemnified Person with respect to any such threatened or actual action or proceeding, and any 

appeal thereof.  

 

SECTION 2. Prohibited Indemnification: The Corporation shall not indemnify any person if a 

judgment or other final adjudication adverse to the Indemnified Person (or to the person whose 

actions are the basis for the action or proceeding) establishes, or the Board in good faith 

determines, that such person’s acts were committed in bad faith or were the result of active and 

deliberate dishonesty and were material to the cause of action so adjudicated or that he or she 

personally gained, in fact, a financial profit or other advantage to which he or she was not legally 

entitled.  

 

SECTION 3. Advancement of Expenses: The Corporation shall, on request of any Indemnified 

Person who is or may be entitled to be indemnified by the Corporation, pay or promptly 

reimburse the Indemnified Person’s reasonably incurred expenses in connection with a 

threatened or actual action or proceeding prior to its final disposition. However, no such 

advancement of expenses shall be made unless the Indemnified Person makes a binding, written 
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commitment to repay the Corporation, with interest, for any amount advanced for which it is 

ultimately determined that he or she is not entitled to be indemnified under the law or Section 2 

of this Article. An Indemnified Person shall cooperate in good faith with any request by the 

Corporation that common legal counsel be used by the parties to such action or proceeding who 

are similarly situated unless it would be inappropriate to do so because of actual or potential 

conflicts between the interests of the parties.  

 

SECTION 4. Indemnification of Others: Unless clearly prohibited by law or Section 2 of this 

Article, the Board may approve Corporation indemnification as set forth in Section 1 of this 

Article or advancement of expenses as set forth in Section 3 of this Article, to a person (or the 

testator or intestate of a person) who is or was employed by the Corporation or who is or was a 

Volunteer for the Corporation, and who is made, or threatened to be made, a party in any action 

or proceeding, by reason of the fact of such employment or volunteer activity, including actions 

undertaken in connection with service at the request of the Corporation in any capacity for any 

other corporation, partnership, joint, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other 

enterprise.  

 

SECTION 5. Determination of Indemnification: Indemnification mandated by a final order of 

a Court of competent jurisdiction will be paid. After termination or disposition of any actual or 

threatened action or proceeding against an Indemnified Person, if the indemnification has not 

been ordered by a court the Board shall, upon written request by the Indemnified Person, 

determine whether and to what extent indemnification is permitted pursuant to these By-Laws. 

Before indemnification can occur the Board must explicitly find that such indemnification will 

not violate the provisions of Section 2 of this Article. No member with a personal interest in the 

outcome, or who is a party to such actual or threatened action or proceeding concerning which 

indemnification is sought, shall participate in this determination. If a quorum of disinterested 

Members is not obtainable, the Board shall act only after receiving the opinion in writing of 

independent legal counsel that indemnification is proper in the circumstances under than 

applicable law and these By-Laws.   

 

SECTION 6. Binding Effect: Any person entitled to indemnification under these By-Laws has 

a legally enforceable right to indemnification, which cannot be abridged by amendment of these 

By-Laws with respect to any event, action, or omission occurring prior to the date of such 

amendment.  

 

SECTION 7. Insurance: The Corporation is not required to purchase Directors’ and Officers’ 

liability insurance, but the Corporation may purchase such insurance if authorized and approved 

by the Board. To the extent permitted by law, such insurance may insure the Corporation for any 

obligation it incurs as a result of this Article or operation of law and it may insure directly the 

Members, Officers, Employees, or Volunteers of the Corporation for liabilities against which 

they are not entitled to indemnification under this Article as well as for liabilities against which 

they are entitled or permitted to be indemnified by the Corporation.  

 

SECTION 8. Nonexclusive Rights: The provisions of this Article shall not limit or exclude any 

other rights to which any person may be entitled under law or contract. The Board is authorized 

to enter into agreements on behalf of the Corporation with any Member, Officer, Employee, or 
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Volunteer providing them rights to indemnification or advancement of expenses in connection 

with potential indemnification in addition to the provisions therefore in this Article, subject in all  

cases to the limitations of Section 2 of this Article. 

 

 

 

ARTICLE VIII 

 

GENERAL 

 

SECTION 1. Loans to Directors and Officers: No loans, other than through the purchase of 

bonds, debentures or similar obligations of the type customarily sold in public offerings, shall be 

made by the Corporation to its Directors or officers, or to any other corporation, firm, association 

or other entity in which one or more of its Directors or officers are Directors or officers or hold a 

substantial financial interest.  

 

SECTION 2. Books and Records: These shall be kept at the office of the Corporation: (1) 

correct and complete books and records of accounts; (2) minutes of the proceedings of the Board 

and the standing and special Committees of the Corporation; (3) a current list of the Members 

and the Officers of the Corporation and their residence addresses; (4) a copy of these By-Laws; 

(5) a copy of the Corporation’s application for recognition of exemption with the Internal 

Revenue Service (if applicable); (6) copies of the past three years information returns to the 

Internal Revenue Service (if applicable). Any other books and records required by law to be kept 

by the Corporation.   

 

 

ARTICLE IX 

 

FISCAL YEAR 
The fiscal year of the Corporation shall commence on July 1st in each calendar year and end on 

the last day of June.  

 

ARTICLE X 

 

NON DISCRIMINATION, AFFIRMATIVE ACTION, LOBBYING 

 

SECTION 1. Non-Discrimination & Affirmative Action Policy   The Corporation shall not 

discriminate upon the basis of race, creed, color, sex, or national origin in the sale, lease, or 

rental or in the use or occupancy of the property or improvements erected or to be erected 

thereon or any part thereof. The Board shall adopt, by resolution a formal non-discrimination and 

affirmative action policy. 

 

 

SECTION 2. Lobbying Policy   The Board shall make a record of any lobbyist contract and 

adopt policies for implementing this requirement.  
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ARTICLE XI 

 

EMERGENCY POWERS AND EMERGENCY BY-LAWS 

The board of directors may adopt By-laws to be effective only in an emergency. An emergency 

exists if a quorum of the Land Bank’s directors cannot readily be assembled because of some 

catastrophic event. The emergency By-laws may make all provisions necessary for managing the 

Association during an emergency, including procedures for calling a meeting of the board of 

directors, quorum requirements for the meeting, and designation of additional of substitute 

director(s). The board of directors, either before or during any such emergency may provide, and 

from time to time modify lines of succession if during such emergency any or all officers or 

agents of the Land Bank are for any reason rendered incapable of discharging their duties.   All 

provisions of the regular By-laws consistent with the emergency By-laws remain effective during 

the emergency. The emergency By-laws are not effective after the emergency ends. Actions 

taken by the Land Bank in good faith in accordance with the emergency By-laws have the effect 

of binding the Land Bank and may not be used to impose liability on a corporate director, 

officer, employee, or agent.  In anticipation of or during any emergency, the board of directors 

may modify lines of succession to accommodate the incapacity of any director, officer, employee 

or agent; relocate the principal office or designate alternative principal offices of regional offices 

or authorize the officers to do so. Unless emergency By-laws otherwise provide, it is hereby 

provided that:  

(a) Notice of a meeting of the board of directors need be given only to those directors who it 

is practicable to reach and may be given in any practicable manner;   

(b) One or more officers of the corporation present at a meeting of the board of directors may 

be deemed to be directors of the meeting in order of rank and within the same rank in order 

of seniority as necessary to achieve a quorum; and  

(c) The director or directors in attendance at a meeting or any greater number affixed by the 

emergency By-laws constitute a quorum.  

Corporate action taken in good faith during an emergency described herein to further the 

ordinary affairs of the corporation bind the corporation and may not be used to impose liability 

on a corporate director, office employee or agent. An officer, director or employee acting in 

accordance with any emergency By-laws is only liable for willful misconduct.  
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ARTICLE XII 

DISTRIBUTION AND COMPENSATION 

Section 1.  Dividends   No dividend may be paid, nor may any part of the income or profit of the 

Association be distributed, to its members, directors, or officers.  

Section 2.  Compensation The Association may pay compensation in a reasonable amount to 

its staff, directors or officers for services rendered, and upon dissolution or final liquidation, may 

make distributions as permitted under New York Law.  Any such payment, benefit, or 

distribution does not constitute a dividend or distribution of income or profit.  

 

ARTICLE XIII 

TRANSACTION OF BUSINESS 

Section 1. The Corporation shall make no purchase of real property, nor sell, mortgage, lease 

away or otherwise dispose of its real property, unless authorized by a vote of two-thirds of the 

Board of Directors. Unless otherwise restricted by these By-laws, no vote or consent of the 

members shall be required to make effective such action by the Board.  

Section 2. Whenever the lawful activities of the corporation involve, among other things, the 

charging of fees or prices for its services or products, it shall have the right to receive such 

income and, in so doing, may make incidental revenue. All such incidental revenues shall be 

applied to the maintenance and operation of the lawful activities of the corporation, and in no 

case shall be divided or distributed in any manner whatsoever among the directors or officers of 

the corporation. 

 

ARTICLE XIV 

PROHIBITION AGAINST SHARING IN CORPORATE EARNINGS 

Section 1. The Corporation is formed exclusively for purposes for which a corporation may 

be formed under Section 501(c) of the Internal Revenue Code (or the corresponding section of 

any future federal tax code) and not for pecuniary or financial gain. 

Section 2. No part of the assets, income or profit of the Corporation shall be distributable to, 

or inure to the benefit of, its members, directors or officers, except to the extent, if any, under the 

Non-Profit Corporation Law and Section 50 of the Internal Revenue Code. 

Section 3. Upon the dissolution of the Corporation, no member, director or officer shall be 

entitled to any distribution of its remaining assets, rather its assets shall be distributed to such 
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organizations as are exempt under the provisions of Section 501(c) of the Internal Revenue Code 

(or corresponding section of any future federal tax code), as may have an exempt purpose similar 

to the purposes for which this corporation is organized. 

Section 4. No part of the activities of the Corporation shall be carrying on propaganda, or 

otherwise attempting to influence legislation, or participating in, or intervening in, (including the 

publication or distribution of statements) any political campaign on behalf of any candidate for 

public office. 

 

ARTICLE XV 

AMENDMENTS 

As provided in the Certificate of Incorporation, the By-Laws of the Corporation may be adopted, 

amended or repealed at any regular meeting of the Board of Directors upon affirmative vote of 

2/3 of the entire Board and only after advance notice of at least ten (10) days has been given to 

all Board members and to the Chair of the Albany County Legislature.  

  

Adopted this _________day of ________, 2015 

 

ATTEST: 

/s/   

_____________________________ 

Ralph Pascale, Secretary 
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ALBANY COUNTY LAND BANK 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
DISCLOSURE STATEMENT 

 
Pursuant to the purposes and intent of the policy on conflicts of interest requiring disclosure of 
certain interests, adopted by the Board of Directors, a copy of which has been furnished to me, I 
hereby state that I have read and understand the policy and agree to comply with the policy.  I 
understand that the policy applies to all committees and subcommittees having board-delegated 
powers.  I understand that the Land Bank is a Public Authority and a charitable organization that 
must engage primarily in activities that accomplish one or more of its tax-exempt purposes to 
maintain its tax-exempt status.  I hereby state that I and/or members of my immediate family have 
no affiliations or interests and have taken part in no transaction which, when considered in 
conjunction with my relation to the Land Bank, might constitute a conflict of interest, except as is 
noted below. (If none, write "None".  Please use additional paper if more space is needed.) 
 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
I also agree to report to the Audit Committee of any situations that may develop in the above areas 
before completion of the next annual disclosure statement. 
 
 
Printed Name: _________________________________    Date: ________________ 
 
 
Signature: _____________________________________ 
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APPENDIX A 
 

THE ALBANY COUNTY LAND BANK 
Whistleblower Policy 

 
 

General 
 
The Land Bank requires directors, key volunteers, and employees to observe high standards of 
business and personal ethics in the conduct of their duties and responsibilities. Employees and 
representatives of the organization must practice honesty and integrity in fulfilling their 
responsibilities and comply with all applicable laws and regulations. 
 
The objectives of the Land Bank’s Whistleblower Policy are to establish policies and procedures for: 

 
• The submission of concerns regarding questionable accounting or audit matters by 
employees, directors, officers, and key volunteers of the organization, on a confidential 
and anonymous basis; 
 
• The receipt, retention, and treatment of complaints received by the organization 
regarding accounting, internal controls, or auditing matters; 

 
• The protection of directors, volunteers and employees reporting concerns from 
retaliatory actions. 

 
Reporting Responsibility 
 
Each director, key volunteer, and employee of the Land Bank has an obligation to report in 
accordance with this Whistleblower Policy:  (a) questionable or improper accounting or auditing 
matters, and (b) violations and suspected violations of the Land Bank’s Code of Ethics and/or 
Conflicts of Interest Policy (hereinafter collectively referred to as Concerns). 

 
Authority of Audit Committee 
 
All reported Concerns will be forwarded to the Audit Committee in accordance with the procedures 
set forth herein. The Audit Committee shall be responsible for investigating, and making appropriate 
recommendations to the Board of Directors, with respect to all reported Concerns. 

 
No Retaliation 
 
This Whistleblower Policy is intended to encourage and enable directors, key volunteers, and 
employees to raise Concerns within the Organization for investigation and appropriate action. With 
this goal in mind, no director, volunteer, or employee who, in good faith, reports a Concern shall be 
subject to retaliation or, in the case of an employee, adverse employment consequences. Moreover, a 
volunteer or employee who retaliates against someone who has reported a Concern in good faith is 
subject to discipline up to and including dismissal from the volunteer position or termination of 
employment. 
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Reporting Concerns 
 

Employees 
Employees should first discuss their Concern with their immediate supervisor. If, after speaking with 
his or her supervisor, the individual continues to have reasonable grounds to believe the Concern is 
valid, the individual should report the Concern to the Audit Committee. In addition, if the individual 
is uncomfortable speaking with his or her supervisor, or the supervisor is a subject of the Concern, 
the individual should report his or her Concern directly to the Audit Committee. 

 
If the Concern was reported verbally to the employee’s immediate supervisor, the reporting 
individual, with assistance from the supervisor, shall reduce the Concern to writing. The supervisor is 
required to promptly report the Concern to the Chair of the Audit Committee, who has specific and 
exclusive responsibility to investigate all Concerns. Contact information for the Chair of the Audit 
Committee may be obtained through the Executive Director or Board Chairman/President. Concerns 
may be also be submitted anonymously. Such anonymous Concerns should be in writing and sent 
directly to the Chair of the Audit Committee. 

 
Directors and Other Volunteers 
Directors and other Key Volunteers should submit Concerns in writing directly to the Chair of the 
Audit Committee. Contact information for the Chair of the Audit Committee may be obtained from 
the Executive Director. 

 
Handling of Reported Violations 
The Audit Committee shall address all reported Concerns. The Chair of the Audit Committee shall 
immediately notify the Audit Committee, the Chairman/President, and the Executive Director, of any 
such report. The Chair of the Audit Committee will notify the sender and acknowledge receipt of the 
Concern within five business days, if possible. It will not be possible to acknowledge receipt of 
anonymously submitted Concerns. 
 
All reports will be promptly investigated by the Audit Committee, and appropriate corrective action 
will be recommended to the Board of Directors, if warranted by the investigation. In addition, action 
taken must include a conclusion and/or follow-up with the complainant for complete closure of the 
Concern. 
 
The Audit Committee has the authority to retain outside legal counsel, accountants, private 
investigators, or any other resource deemed necessary to conduct a full and complete investigation of 
the allegations. 
 
Acting in Good Faith 
Anyone reporting a Concern must act in good faith and have reasonable grounds for believing the 
information disclosed indicates an improper accounting or auditing practice, or a violation of the 
Code of Ethics and/or Conflict of Interest Policy. The act of making allegations that prove to be 
unsubstantiated, and that prove to have been made maliciously, recklessly, or with the 
foreknowledge that the allegations are false, will be viewed as a serious disciplinary offense and 
may result in discipline, up to and including dismissal from the volunteer position, termination of 
employment, or termination of board service. Such conduct may also give rise to other actions, 
including civil lawsuits.   
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Confidentiality 
Reports of Concerns, and investigations pertaining thereto, shall be kept confidential and to the 
extent possible, consistent with the need to conduct an adequate investigation. Disclosure of reports 
of Concerns to individuals not involved in the investigation will be viewed as a serious disciplinary 
offense and may result in discipline, up to and including termination of employment, volunteer 
opportunity or Board service. Such conduct may also give rise to other actions, including civil 
lawsuits. 
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APPENDIX B 
 

THE ALBANY COUNTY LAND BANK 
 

 Related Party Transaction Policy 
 
 

The Land Bank shall not enter  into  any  related  party  transaction unless the transaction is 
determined by the board to be fair, reasonable and   in   the   corporation's   best  interest  at  the  
time  of  such determination. Any director, officer or key employee who has an interest in a 
related party transaction shall disclose in good faith to the board, or an authorized committee 
thereof, the material facts concerning such interest. 
 
Definitions 
 
The term "Independent  director"  means a director who: (i) is not, and has not been within the last 
three years, an employee of the corporation or an affiliate of the corporation, and does not have a 
relative who is, or has been  within  the  last  three  years,  a  key  employee  of  the corporation  
or  an affiliate of the corporation; (ii) has not received, and does not have a relative who has 
received, in any of the last  three fiscal years, more than ten thousand dollars in direct 
compensation from the   corporation  or  an  affiliate  of  the  corporation  (other  than 
reimbursement  for  expenses  reasonably  incurred  as  a  director   or reasonable  compensation  
for  service  as  a  director  as permitted by paragraph (a) of section 202 (General and special 
powers)); and (iii) is not a current employee of or  does  not  have  a  substantial  financial interest 
in, and does not have a relative who is a current officer of or has  a  substantial  financial  interest  
in,  any  entity that has made payments to, or received payments from, the corporation or an  
affiliate of  the  corporation for property or services in an amount which, in any of the last three  
fiscal  years,  exceeds  the  lesser  of  twenty-five thousand  dollars  or  two  percent  of such 
entity's consolidated gross revenues. For purposes of this subparagraph, "payment" does not 
include charitable contributions. 
 
The Term "Relative"  of  an  individual  means  his  or her (i) spouse, ancestors, brothers and 
sisters (whether whole or half-blood),  children (whether  natural  or  adopted), grandchildren, 
great-grandchildren, and spouses   of   brothers,   sisters,   children,    grandchildren,    and great-
grandchildren;  or  (ii)  domestic  partner  as defined in section 2924(a) of the public health law. 

 
The term "Related Party" means (i) any director, officer or key employee of the corporation  or  
any  affiliate  of  the  corporation;  (ii)  any relative  of any director, officer or key employee of the 
corporation or any affiliate of the corporation; or  (iii)  any  entity  in  which  any individual  
described in clauses (i) and (ii) of this subparagraph has a thirty-five percent or greater ownership 
or beneficial interest  or,  in the  case  of  a  partnership  or  professional corporation, a direct or 
indirect ownership interest in excess of five percent. 
The term "Related Party Transaction" means any transaction, agreement or any other arrangement 
in which a related party has a financial interest and in which the corporation or any affiliate of the 
corporation is a participant. 
 
The term  "Key employee" means  any  person  who  is  in  a  position  to exercise  substantial  
influence over the affairs of the corporation. 
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Reporting Responsibility 
 
Each director, Key Volunteer and employee of the Land Bank has an obligation to report and in 
accordance with this Policy. 

 
Authority of Audit Committee 
 
All reported Concerns will be forwarded to the Audit Committee in accordance with the 
procedures set forth herein. The Audit Committee shall be responsible for investigating, and 
making appropriate recommendations to the Board of Directors, with respect to all reported 
Concerns. 
 
Procedure 
 
With respect  to  any  related  party in which a related party  has  a  substantial financial  interest,  
the  Audit and Finance committee of the Land Bank shall:   
 
(1) Prior to entering  into  the  transaction,  consider  alternative transactions to the extent 

available; 
 

(2) Approve or Decline  the  transaction by not less than a majority vote of the directors or 
committee members present at the meeting; and 

 
(3) Contemporaneously document in writing the basis for the board or authorized committee's 

approval or decline, including its consideration of any alternative transactions. 
 

(4) Keep all matters discussed before the Board and/or Audit committee confidential. 
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APPENDIX C 
 

THE ALBANY COUNTY LAND BANK 
 

CODE OF ETHICS 
 
 
It is the intent of the Land Bank to strive for the highest ethical conduct from all board and staff. 
The leadership is particularly sensitive to individuals who hold management and governance 
positions of trust and confidence in fulfilling the mission and goals of the organization. These 
sensitive positions include officers, key senior staff members designated by the chief executive, 
and members of the board. 
 
In an effort to achieve the highest standards of conduct, each officer, key staff member, key 
volunteer, and board member is requested to acknowledge (by signing) the following adopted 
Code of Ethics each year.  
 
This Code of Ethics shall apply to all directors of the Board and employees of the Albany County 
Land Bank Corporation (“Land Bank”). These policies shall serve as a guide for official conduct 
and are intended to enhance the ethical and professional performance of the directors and 
employees and to preserve public confidence in the Land Bank’s mission. This code is adopted 
pursuant to New York Public Authorities Law section 2824(1)(d) and section 73 and 74 of the 
New York Public Officers Law.  
 
DEFINITIONS 
As used in this policy:  
 
“Director” shall mean a member of the Board of Directors of the Albany County Land Bank 
Corporation who in this capacity is also deemed to be a state director of a local public authority 
under section 1605(l) of the Not-for-Profit Law (“the Land Bank Act”) and as such is subject to 
the ethical responsibilities of section 73 and 74 of the Public Officers Law and also New York 
Public Authorities Law section 2824(1)(d).  
 
“Employee” shall mean a non-volunteer employee of the Albany County Land Bank Corporation 
who in this capacity is also deemed to be a state employee of a local public authority under 
section 1605(l) of the Not-for-Profit Law (“the Land Bank Act”) and as such is subject to the 
ethical responsibilities of section 73 and 74 of the Public Officers Law and also New York Public 
Authorities Law section 2824(1)(d).  
No director or employee of the Land Bank should have any interest, financial or otherwise, direct 
or indirect, or engage in any business or transaction or professional activity or incur any 
obligation of any nature, which is in substantial conflict with the proper discharge of his or her 
duties in the public interest.  
 
 
STANDARDS 
 

1. Directors and employees shall perform their duties with transparency, without 
favor and refrain from engaging in outside matters of financial or personal 
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interest, including other employment, that could impair independence of 
judgment, or prevent the proper exercise of one’s official duties.  

2. Directors and employees shall not directly or indirectly, make, advise, or assist 
any person to make any financial investment based upon information available 
through the director’s or employees’ official position that could create any 
conflict between their public duties and interests and their private interests.  

3. Directors and employees shall not accept or receive any gift or gratuities where 
the circumstances would permit the inference that: (a) the gift is intended to 
influence the individual in the performance of official business or (b) the gift 
constitutes a tip, reward, or sign of appreciation for any official act by the 
individual. This prohibition extends to any form of financial payments, 
services, loans, travel reimbursement, entertain, hospitality, or thing or promise 
from any entity doing business with or before the Land Bank.  

4. Directors and employees shall not use or attempt to use their official position 
with the Land Bank to secure unwarranted privileges for themselves, members 
of their family or others, including employment with the Land Bank or 
contracts for materials or services with the Land Bank.  

5. Directors and employees must conduct themselves at all times in a manner that 
avoids any appearance that they can be improperly or unduly influences that 
they could be affected by the position of or relationship with any other party, 
or that they are acting in violation of their public trust.  

6. Directors and employees may not engage in any official transaction with an 
outside entity in which they have a director or indirect financial interest that 
may reasonably conflict with the proper discharge of their official duties.  

7. Directors and employees shall manage all matters within the scope of the Land 
Bank’s mission independent of any other affiliations or employment. Directors, 
and employees employed by more than entity shall strict to fulfill their 
professional responsibility to the Land Bank without bias and shall support the 
Land Bank’s mission to the fullest.  

8. Directors and employees shall not use Land Bank property, including 
equipment, telephones, vehicles, computers, or other resources, or disclose 
information acquired in the course of their official duties in a manner 
inconsistent with State or local law or policy and the Land Bank’s mission and 
goals.  

9. Directors and employees are prohibited from appearing or practicing before the 
Land Bank for two (2) years following employment with the Land Bank, 
consistent with the provisions of Public Officers Law.  

 
 
 
IMPLEMENTATION 
 
This Code of Ethics shall be provided to all directors and employees upon commencement of 
employment or appointment and shall be reviewed annually by the Governance Committee.  
The board may designate an Ethics Officers who shall report to the board and shall the following 
duties:  

• Counsel in confidence with the Land Bank directors and employees who seek 
advice about ethical behavior.  
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• Receive and investigation complaints about possible ethics violations. 
• Dismiss complaints found to be without substance. 
• Prepare an investigation report of their findings for action buy the Executive 

Director or the board. 
• Record the receipt of gifts or gratuities of any kind received by a director or 

employee who shall notify the Ethics Officer within 48 hours of receipt of such 
gifts and gratuities.  
 

PENALTIES 
 
In addition to any penalty contained in any other provision of the law, directors or employees who 
knowingly and intentionally violates any of the provisions of this code many be removed in the 
manner provided for in law, rules or regulations, and the Land Bank Bylaws. 
 
REPORTING UNETHICAL BEHAVIOR 
 
Directors and employees are required to report possible ethical behavior by a direction or 
employee of Land Bank to the Ethics Officer, if one has been appointed, or to the Chairman of the 
Board, or the Vice Chairman of the Board. Directors and employees may file ethics complaints 
anonymously and protection from retaliation by the policies adopted by the Land Bank.  
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§ 1600.  Short title 
 
   This article shall be known and may be cited as the "land bank act". 
 
§ 1601.  Legislative intent 
 
 The legislature finds and declares that New York's communities are important to the social and economic 
vitality of the state. Whether urban, suburban, or rural, many communities are struggling to cope with vacant, 
abandoned, and tax-delinquent properties. 
  
There exists a crisis in many cities and their metro areas caused by disinvestment in real property and result-
ing in a significant amount of vacant and abandoned property. For example, Cornell Cooperative Extension 
Association of Erie county estimates that the city of Buffalo has thirteen thousand vacant parcels, four thou-
sand vacant structures and an estimated twenty-two thousand two hundred ninety vacant residential units. 
This condition of vacant and abandoned property represents lost revenue to local governments and large 
costs ranging from demolition, effects of safety hazards and spreading deterioration of neighborhoods in-
cluding resulting mortgage foreclosures. 
  
The need exists to strengthen and revitalize the economy of the state and its local units of government by 
solving the problems of vacant and abandoned property in a coordinated manner and to foster the develop-
ment of such property and promote economic growth. Such problems may include multiple taxing jurisdic-
tions lacking common policies, ineffective property inspection, code enforcement and property rehabilitation 
support, lengthy and/or inadequate foreclosure proceedings and lack of coordination and resources to support 
economic revitalization. 
  
There is an overriding public need to confront the problems caused by vacant, abandoned and tax-delinquent 
properties through the creation of new tools to be available to communities throughout New York enabling 
them to turn vacant spaces into vibrant places. 
  
Land banks are one of the tools that can be utilized by communities to facilitate the return of vacant, aban-
doned, and tax-delinquent properties to productive use. The primary focus of land bank operations is the ac-
quisition of real property that is tax delinquent, tax foreclosed, vacant, abandoned, and the use of tools autho-
rized in this article to eliminate the harms and liabilities caused by such properties. 
 
§ 1602.  Definitions 
 
   The following words and phrases when used in this article shall have the meanings given to them in this 
section unless the context clearly indicates otherwise: 

(a) "board of directors" or "board" shall mean the board of directors of a land bank; 

(b) "land bank" shall mean a land bank established as a type C not-for-profit corporation under this 
chapter and in accordance with the provisions of this article and pursuant to this article; 

(c) "foreclosing governmental unit" shall mean "tax district" as defined in subdivision six of section ele-
ven hundred two of the real property tax law; 

(d) "municipality" shall mean a city, village, town or county other than a county located wholly within a 
city; 

(e) "school district" shall mean a school district as defined under the education law; and 



 

(f) "real property" shall mean lands, lands under water, structures and any and all easements, air rights, 
franchises and incorporeal hereditaments and every estate and right therein, legal and equitable, including 
terms for years and liens by way of judgment, mortgage or otherwise, and any and all fixtures and improve-
ments located thereon. 
 
§ 1603.  Creation and existence 
 
   (a) Any foreclosing governmental unit may create a land bank by the adoption of a local law, ordinance, 
or resolution as appropriate to such foreclosing governmental unit which action specifies the following: 

(1) the name of the land bank; 

(2) the number of members of the board of directors, which shall consist of an odd number of members, 
and shall be not less than five members nor more than eleven members; 

(3) the initial individuals to serve as members of the board of directors, and the length of terms for which 
they are to serve; 

(4) the qualifications, manner of selection or appointment, and terms of office of members of the board; 
and 

(5) the articles of incorporation for the land bank, which shall be filed with the secretary of state in ac-
cordance with the procedures set forth in this chapter. 
  
(b) Two or more foreclosing governmental units may enter into an intergovernmental cooperation agreement 
which creates a single land bank to act on behalf of such foreclosing governmental units, which agreement 
shall be authorized by and be in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (a) of this section. Such inter-
governmental agreement shall include provisions for dissolution of such land bank. 
  
(c) Any foreclosing governmental units and any municipality may enter into an intergovernmental coopera-
tion agreement which creates a single land bank to act on behalf of such foreclosing governmental unit or 
units and municipality, which agreement shall be authorized by and be in accordance with the provisions of 
paragraph (a) of this section. Such intergovernmental agreement shall include provisions for dissolution of 
such land bank. 
  
(d) Except when a land bank is created pursuant to paragraph (b) or (c) of this section, in the event a county 
creates a land bank, such land bank shall have the power to acquire real property only in those portions of 
such county located outside of the geographical boundaries of any other land bank created by any other fo-
reclosing governmental unit located partially or entirely within such county. 
  
(e) A school district may participate in a land bank pursuant to an intergovernmental cooperation agreement 
with the foreclosing governmental unit or units that create the land bank, which agreement shall specify the 
membership, if any, of such school district on the board of directors of the land bank, or the actions of the 
land bank which are subject to approval by the school district. 
  
(f) Each land bank created pursuant to this act shall be a type C not-for-profit corporation, and shall have 
permanent and perpetual duration until terminated and dissolved in accordance with the provisions of section 
sixteen hundred thirteen of this article. 
  
(g) Nothing in this article shall be construed to authorize the existence of more than ten land banks located in 
the state at one time, provided further that each foreclosing governmental unit or units proposing to create a 
land bank shall submit such local law, ordinance or resolution as required by paragraph (a) of this section, to 



 

the urban development corporation, for its review and approval. The creation of a land bank shall be condi-
tioned upon approval of the urban development corporation. 
  
(h) The office of the state comptroller shall have the authority to audit any land bank pursuant to this article. 
 
§ 1604.  Applicability of New York law 
 
   This article shall apply only to land banks created pursuant to this article. 
 
§ 1605.  Board of directors 
 
   (a) (1) The initial size of the board shall be determined in accordance with section sixteen hundred three 
of this article. Unless restricted by the actions or agreements specified in section sixteen hundred three of this 
article, the provisions of this section shall apply. 

(2) The size of the board may be adjusted in accordance with by-laws of the land bank. 
  
(b) In the event that a land bank is created pursuant to an intergovernmental agreement in accordance with 
section sixteen hundred three of this article, such intergovernmental cooperation agreement shall specify 
matters identified in paragraph (a) of section sixteen hundred three of this article; provided, however, that 
each foreclosing governmental unit shall have at least one appointment to the board. 
  
(c) Any public officer shall be eligible to serve as a board member and the acceptance of the appointment 
shall neither terminate nor impair such public office. For purposes of this section, "public officer" shall mean 
a person who is elected to a municipal office. Any municipal employee or appointed officer shall be eligible 
to serve as a board member. 
  
(d) The members of the board of directors shall select annually from among themselves a chairman, a 
vice-chairman, a treasurer, and such other officers as the board may determine, and shall establish their du-
ties as may be regulated by rules adopted by the board. 
  
(e) The board shall establish rules and requirements relative to the attendance and participation of members 
in its meetings, regular or special. Such rules and regulations may prescribe a procedure whereby, should any 
member fail to comply with such rules and regulations, such member may be disqualified and removed au-
tomatically from office by no less than a majority vote of the remaining members of the board, and that 
member's position shall be vacant as of the first day of the next calendar month. Any person removed under 
the provisions of this paragraph shall be ineligible for reappointment to the board, unless such reappointment 
is confirmed unanimously by the board. 
  
(f) A vacancy on the board shall be filled in the same manner as the original appointment. 
  
(g) Board members shall serve without compensation, shall have the power to organize and reorganize the 
executive, administrative, clerical, and other departments of the land bank and to fix the duties, powers, and 
compensation of all employees, agents, and consultants of the land bank. The board may reimburse any 
member for expenses actually incurred in the performance of duties on behalf of the land bank. 
  
(h) The board shall meet in regular session according to a schedule adopted by the board, and also shall meet 
in special session as convened by the chairman or upon written notice signed by a majority of the members. 
  
(i) A majority of the members of the board, not including vacancies, shall constitute a quorum for the con-
duct of business. All actions of the board shall be approved by the affirmative vote of a majority of the 



 

members of that board present and voting; provided, however, no action of the board shall be authorized on 
the following matters unless approved by a majority of the total board membership: 

(1) adoption of by-laws and other rules and regulations for conduct of the land bank's business; 

(2) hiring or firing of any employee or contractor of the land bank. This function may, by majority vote 
of the total board membership, be delegated to a specified officer or committee of the land bank, under such 
terms and conditions, and to the extent, that the board may specify; 

(3) the incurring of debt; 

(4) adoption or amendment of the annual budget; and 

(5) sale, lease, encumbrance, or alienation of real property, improvements, or personal property. 
  
(j) Members of a board shall not be liable personally on the bonds or other obligations of the land bank, and 
the rights of creditors shall be solely against such land bank. 
  
(k) Vote by proxy shall not be permitted. Any member may request a recorded vote on any resolution or ac-
tion of the land bank. 
  
(l) Each director, officer and employee shall be a state officer or employee for the purposes of sections se-
venty-three and seventy-four of the public officers law. 
 
§ 1606.  Staff 
 
   A land bank may employ a secretary, an executive director, its own counsel and legal staff, and such tech-
nical experts, and such other agents and employees, permanent or temporary, as it may require, and may de-
termine the qualifications and fix the compensation and benefits of such persons. A land bank may also enter 
into contracts and agreements with municipalities for staffing services to be provided to the land bank by 
municipalities or agencies or departments thereof, or for a land bank to provide such staffing services to mu-
nicipalities or agencies or departments thereof. 
 
§ 1607.  Powers 
 
   (a) A land bank shall constitute a type C not-for-profit corporation under New York law, which powers 
shall include all powers necessary to carry out and effectuate the purposes and provisions of this article, in-
cluding the following powers in addition to those herein otherwise granted: 

(1) adopt, amend, and repeal bylaws for the regulation of its affairs and the conduct of its business; 

(2) sue and be sued in its own name and plead and be impleaded in all civil actions, including, but not 
limited to, actions to clear title to property of the land bank; 

(3) to adopt a seal and to alter the same at pleasure; 

(4) to make contracts, give guarantees and incur liabilities, borrow money at such rates of interest as the 
land bank may determine; 

(5) to issue negotiable revenue bonds and notes according to the provisions of this article; 

(6) to procure insurance or guarantees from the state of New York or federal government of the pay-
ments of any debts or parts thereof incurred by the land bank, and to pay premiums in connection therewith; 



 

(7) to enter into contracts and other instruments necessary to the performance of its duties and the exer-
cise of its powers, including, but not limited to, intergovernmental agreements under section one hundred 
nineteen-o of the general municipal law for the joint exercise of powers under this article; 

(8) to enter into contracts and other instruments necessary to the performance of functions by the land 
bank on behalf of municipalities or agencies or departments of municipalities, or the performance by muni-
cipalities or agencies or departments of municipalities of functions on behalf of the land bank; 

(9) to make and execute contracts and other instruments necessary to the exercise of the powers of the 
land bank; and any contract or instrument when signed by the chairman or vice-chairman of the land bank, or 
by an authorized use of their facsimile signatures, and by the secretary or assistant secretary, or, treasurer or 
assistant treasurer of the land bank, or by an authorized use of their facsimile signatures, shall be held to have 
been properly executed for and on its behalf; 

(10) to procure insurance against losses in connection with the real property, assets, or activities of the 
land bank; 

(11) to invest money of the land bank, at the discretion of the board of directors, in instruments, obliga-
tions, securities, or property determined proper by the board of directors, and name and use depositories for 
its money; 

(12) to enter into contracts for the management of, the collection of rent from, or the sale of real property 
of the land bank; 

(13) to design, develop, construct, demolish, reconstruct, rehabilitate, renovate, relocate, and otherwise 
improve real property or rights or interests in real property; 

(14) to fix, charge, and collect rents, fees and charges for the use of real property of the land bank and for 
services provided by the land bank; 

(15) to grant or acquire a license, easement, lease (as lessor and as lessee), or option with respect to real 
property of the land bank; 

(16) to enter into partnership, joint ventures, and other collaborative relationships with municipalities and 
other public and private entities for the ownership, management, development, and disposition of real prop-
erty; 

(17) to inventory vacant, abandoned and tax foreclosed properties; 

(18) to develop a redevelopment plan to be approved by the foreclosing governmental unit or units; 

(19) to be subject to municipal building codes and zoning laws; 

(20) to enter in agreements with a foreclosing governmental unit for the distribution of revenues to the 
foreclosing governmental unit and school district; and 

(21) to do all other things necessary to achieve the objectives and purposes of the land bank or other laws 
that relate to the purposes and responsibility of the land bank. 
  
(b) A land bank shall neither possess nor exercise the power of eminent domain. 
 
§ 1608.  Acquisition of property 
 
   (a) The real property of a land bank and its income and operations are exempt from all taxation by the 
state of New York and by any of its political subdivisions. 
  
(b) The land bank may acquire real property or interests in real property by gift, devise, transfer, exchange, 
foreclosure, purchase, or otherwise on terms and conditions and in a manner the land bank considers proper. 



 

  
(c) The land bank may acquire real property by purchase contracts, lease purchase agreements, installment 
sales contracts, land contracts, and may accept transfers from municipalities upon such terms and conditions 
as agreed to by the land bank and the municipality. Notwithstanding any other law to the contrary, any muni-
cipality may transfer to the land bank real property and interests in real property of the municipality on such 
terms and conditions and according to such procedures as determined by the municipality. 
  
(d) The land bank shall maintain all of its real property in accordance with the laws and ordinances of the 
jurisdiction in which the real property is located. 
  
(e) The land bank shall not own or hold real property located outside the jurisdictional boundaries of the fo-
reclosing governmental unit or units which created the land bank; provided, however, that a land bank may 
be granted authority pursuant to an intergovernmental cooperation agreement with another municipality to 
manage and maintain real property located within the jurisdiction of such other municipality. 
  
(f) Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, any municipality may convey to a land bank 
real property and interests in real property on such terms and conditions, form and substance of considera-
tion, and procedures, all as determined by the transferring municipality in its discretion. 
  
(g) The acquisition of real property by a land bank pursuant to the provisions of this article, from entities 
other than political subdivisions, shall be limited to real property that is tax delinquent, tax foreclosed, vacant 
or abandoned; provided, however, that a land bank shall have authority to enter into agreements to purchase 
other real property consistent with an approved redevelopment plan. 
  
(h) The land bank shall maintain and make available for public review and inspection a complete inventory 
of all property received by the land bank. Such inventory shall include: the location of the parcel; the pur-
chase price, if any, for each parcel received; the current value assigned to the property for purposes of real 
property taxation; the amount, if any, owed to the locality for real property taxation; the identity of the trans-
feror; and any conditions or restrictions applicable to the property. 
  
(i) All parcels received by the land bank shall be listed on the received inventory established pursuant to pa-
ragraph (h) of this section within one week of acquisition and shall remain in such inventory for one week 
prior to disposition. 
  
(j) Failure to comply with the requirements in paragraphs (h) and (i) of this section with regard to any partic-
ular parcel shall cause such acquisition by the land bank to be null and void. 
 
§ 1609.  Disposition of property 
 
   (a) The land bank shall hold in its own name all real property acquired by the land bank irrespective of the 
identity of the transferor of such property. 
  
(b) The land bank shall maintain and make available for public review and inspection a complete inventory 
of all real property dispositions by the land bank. Such inventory shall include a complete copy of the sales 
contract including all terms and conditions including, but not limited to, any form of compensation received 
by the land bank or any other party which is not included within the sale price. 
  
(c) The land bank shall determine and set forth in policies and procedures of the board of directors the gener-
al terms and conditions for consideration to be received by the land bank for the transfer of real property and 
interests in real property, which consideration may take the form of monetary payments and secured financial 



 

obligations, covenants and conditions related to the present and future use of the property, contractual com-
mitments of the transferee, and such other forms of consideration as are consistent with state and local law. 
  
(d) The land bank may convey, exchange, sell, transfer, lease as lessor, grant, release and demise, pledge any 
and all interests in, upon or to real property of the land bank. 
  
(e) A foreclosing governmental unit may, in its local law, resolution or ordinance creating a land bank, or, in 
the case of multiple foreclosing governmental units creating a single land bank in the applicable intergo-
vernmental cooperation agreement, establish a hierarchical ranking of priorities for the use of real property 
conveyed by a land bank including but not limited to: 

(1) use for purely public spaces and places; 

(2) use for affordable housing; 

(3) use for retail, commercial and industrial activities; 

(4) use as wildlife conservation areas; and 

(5) such other uses and in such hierarchical order as determined by the foreclosing governmental unit or 
units. 
  
(f) A foreclosing governmental unit may, in its local law, resolution or ordinance creating a land bank, or, in 
the case of multiple foreclosing governmental units creating a single land bank in the applicable intergo-
vernmental cooperation agreement, require that any particular form of disposition of real property, or any 
disposition of real property located within specified jurisdictions, be subject to specified voting and approval 
requirements of the board of directors. Except and unless restricted or constrained in this manner, the board 
of directors may delegate to officers and employees the authority to enter into and execute agreements, in-
struments of conveyance and all other related documents pertaining to the conveyance of real property by the 
land bank. 
  
(g) All property dispositions shall be listed on the property disposition inventory established pursuant to pa-
ragraph (b) of this section within one week of disposition. Such records shall remain available for public in-
spection in the property disposition inventory indefinitely. 
  
(h) Failure to comply with the requirements in paragraph (g) of this section shall subject the land bank to a 
civil penalty of one hundred dollars per violation up to a maximum of ten thousand dollars for each parcel, 
recoverable in an action brought by the attorney general or district attorney. The attorney general or district 
attorney may also seek rescission of the real property transaction. 
 
§ 1610.  Financing of land bank operations 
 
   (a) A land bank may receive funding through grants and loans from the foreclosing governmental unit or 
units which created the land bank, from other municipalities, from the state of New York, from the federal 
government, and from other public and private sources. 
  
(b) A land bank may receive and retain payments for services rendered, for rents and leasehold payments 
received, for consideration for disposition of real and personal property, for proceeds of insurance coverage 
for losses incurred, for income from investments, and for any other asset and activity lawfully permitted to a 
land bank under this article. 
  
(c) Upon the adoption of a local law, ordinance, or resolution by municipality, school district or any taxing 
district, fifty percent of the real property taxes collected on any specific parcel of real property identified by 



 

such municipality, school district or any taxing jurisdiction may be remitted to the land bank, in accordance 
with procedures established by regulations promulgated by the department of taxation and finance. Such al-
location of real property tax revenues shall commence with the first taxable year following the date of con-
veyance and shall continue for a period of five years. 
 
§ 1611.  Borrowing and issuance of bonds 
 
   (a) A land bank shall have power to issue bonds for any of its corporate purposes, the principal and inter-
est of which are payable from its revenues generally. Any of such bonds may be secured by a pledge of any 
revenues, including grants or contributions from the state of New York, the federal government, or any 
agency, and instrumentality thereof, or by a mortgage of any property of the land bank. 
  
(b) The bonds issued by a land bank are hereby declared to have all the qualities of negotiable instruments 
under New York state law. 
  
(c) The bonds of a land bank created under the provisions of this article and the income therefrom shall at all 
times be free from taxation for the state of New York or local purposes under any provision of New York 
law. 
  
(d) Bonds issued by the land bank shall be authorized by resolution of the board and shall be limited obliga-
tions of the land bank; the principal and interest, costs of issuance, and other costs incidental thereto shall be 
payable solely from the income and revenue derived from the sale, lease, or other disposition of the assets of 
the land bank. In the discretion of the land bank, the bonds may be additionally secured by mortgage or other 
security device covering all or part of the project from which the revenues so pledged may be derived. Any 
refunding bonds issued shall be payable from any source described above or from the investment of any of 
the proceeds of the refunding bonds and shall not constitute an indebtedness or pledge of the general credit of 
any foreclosing governmental unit or municipality within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory limi-
tation of indebtedness and shall contain a recital to that effect. Bonds of the land bank shall be issued in such 
form, shall be in such denominations, shall bear interest, shall mature in such manner, and be executed by 
one or more members of the board as provided in the resolution authorizing the issuance thereof. Such bonds 
may be subject to redemption at the option of and in the manner determined by the board in the resolution 
authorizing the issuance thereof. 
  
(e) Bonds issued by the land bank shall be issued, sold, and delivered in accordance with the terms and pro-
visions of a resolution adopted by the board. The board may sell such bonds in such manner, either at public 
or at private sale, and for such price as it may determine to be in the best interests of the land bank. The res-
olution issuing bonds shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation within the jurisdiction of the 
land bank. 
  
(f) Neither the members of a land bank nor any person executing the bonds shall be liable personally on any 
such bonds by reason of the issuance thereof. Such bonds or other obligations of a land bank shall not be a 
debt of any municipality or of the state of New York, and shall so state on their face, nor shall any munici-
pality or the state of New York nor any revenues or any property of any municipality or of the state of New 
York be liable therefor. 
 
§ 1612.  Public records and public meetings 
 
   (a) The board shall cause minutes and a record to be kept of all its proceedings. Except as otherwise pro-
vided in this section, the land bank shall be subject to the open meetings law and the freedom of information 
law. 



 

  
(b) A land bank shall hold a public hearing prior to financing or issuance of bonds. The land bank shall 
schedule and hold a public hearing and solicit public comment. After the conclusion of the public hearing 
and comments, the land bank shall consider the results of the public hearing and comments with respect to 
the proposed actions. Such consideration by the land bank shall include the accommodation of the public 
interest with respect to such actions; if such accommodation is deemed in the best interest of the community 
proposed actions shall include such accommodation. 
  
(c) In addition to any other report required by this chapter, the land bank, through its chairperson, shall an-
nually deliver, in oral and written form, a report to the municipality. Such report shall be presented by March 
fifteenth of each year to the governing body or board of the municipality. The report shall describe in detail 
the projects undertaken by the land bank during the past year, the monies expended by the land bank during 
the past year, and the administrative activities of the land bank during the past year. At the conclusion of the 
report, the chairperson of the land bank shall be prepared to answer the questions of the municipality with 
respect to the projects undertaken by the authority during the past year, the monies expended by the munici-
pality during the past year, and the administrative activities of the municipality during the past year. 
 
§ 1613.  Dissolution of land bank 
 
   A land bank may be dissolved as a type C not-for-profit corporation sixty calendar days after an affirma-
tive resolution approved by two-thirds of the membership of the board of directors. Sixty calendar days ad-
vance written notice of consideration of a resolution of dissolution shall be given to the foreclosing govern-
mental unit or units that created the land bank, shall be published in a local newspaper of general circulation, 
and shall be sent certified mail to the trustee of any outstanding bonds of the land bank. Upon dissolution of 
the land bank all real property, personal property and other assets of the land bank shall become the assets of 
the foreclosing governmental unit or units that created the land bank. In the event that two or more foreclos-
ing governmental units create a land bank in accordance with section sixteen hundred three of this article, the 
withdrawal of one or more foreclosing governmental units shall not result in the dissolution of the land bank 
unless the intergovernmental agreement so provides, and there is no foreclosing governmental unit that de-
sires to continue the existence of the land bank. 
 
§ 1614.  Conflicts of interest 
 
   No member of the board or employee of a land bank shall acquire any interest, direct or indirect, in real 
property of the land bank, in any real property to be acquired by the land bank, or in any real property to be 
acquired from the land bank. No member of the board or employee of a land bank shall have any interest, 
direct or indirect, in any contract or proposed contract for materials or services to be furnished or used by a 
land bank. The board may adopt supplemental rules and regulations addressing potential conflicts of interest 
and ethical guidelines for members of the board and land bank employees. 
 
§ 1615.  Construction, intent and scope 
 
   The provisions of this article shall be construed liberally to effectuate the legislative intent and the pur-
poses as complete and independent authorization for the performance of each and every act and thing autho-
rized by this article, and all powers granted shall be broadly interpreted to effectuate the intent and purposes 
and not as a limitation of powers. Except as otherwise expressly set forth in this article, in the exercise of its 
powers and duties under this article and its powers relating to property held by the land bank, the land bank 
shall have complete control as fully and completely as if it represented a private property owner and shall not 
be subject to restrictions imposed by the charter, ordinances, or resolutions of a local unit of government. 
 



 

 
§ 1616.  Delinquent property tax enforcement 
 
   The municipality may enter into a contract to sell some or all of the delinquent tax liens held by it to a 
land bank, subject to the following conditions: 

(a) The consideration to be paid may be more or less than the face amount of the tax liens sold. 

(b) Property owners shall be given at least thirty days advance notice of such sale in the same form and 
manner as is provided by subdivision two of section eleven hundred ninety of the real property tax law. Fail-
ure to provide such notice or the failure of the addressee to receive the same shall not in any way affect the 
validity of any sale of a tax lien or tax liens or the validity of the taxes or interest prescribed by law with re-
spect thereto. 

(c) The municipality shall set the terms and conditions of the contract of sale. 

(d) The land bank must thirty days prior to the commencement of any foreclosure action provide to the 
municipality a list of liens to be foreclosed. The municipality may, at its sole option and discretion, repur-
chase a lien or liens on the foreclosure list from the land bank. The repurchase price shall be the amount of 
the lien or liens plus any accrued interest and collection fees incurred by the land bank. The land bank shall 
provide the foreclosure list to the municipality, along with the applicable repurchase price of each lien, by 
certified mail, and the municipality shall have thirty days from receipt to notify the land bank of its option to 
purchase one or more of the liens. If the municipality opts to purchase the lien, it shall provide payment 
within thirty days of receipt of the repurchase price of said lien or liens. If the municipality shall fail to opt to 
repurchase the lien or liens the land bank shall have the right to commence a foreclosure action immediately. 

(e) The sale of a tax lien pursuant to this article shall not operate to shorten the otherwise applicable re-
demption period or change the otherwise applicable interest rate. 

(f) Upon the expiration of the redemption period prescribed by law, the purchaser of a delinquent tax 
lien, or its successors or assigns, may foreclose the lien as in an action to foreclose a mortgage as provided in 
section eleven hundred ninety-four of the real property tax law. The procedure in such action shall be the 
procedure prescribed by article thirteen of the real property actions and proceedings law for the foreclosure 
of mortgages. At any time following the commencement of an action to foreclose a lien, the amount required 
to redeem the lien, or the amount received upon sale of a property, shall include reasonable and necessary 
collection costs, attorneys' fees, legal costs, allowances, and disbursements. 

(g) The provisions of title five of article eleven of the real property tax law shall apply so far as is prac-
ticable to a contract for the sale of tax liens pursuant to this article. 

(h) If the court orders a public sale pursuant to section eleven hundred thirty-six of the real property tax 
law, and the purchaser of the property is the land bank, then the form, substance, and timing of the land 
bank's payment of the sales price may be according to such agreement as is mutually acceptable to the plain-
tiff and the land bank. The obligation of the land bank to perform in accordance with such agreement shall be 
deemed to be in full satisfaction of the tax claim which was the basis for the judgment. 

(i) Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, in the event that no municipality elects to 
tender a bid at a judicially ordered sale pursuant to the provisions of section eleven hundred thirty-six of the 
real property tax law, the land bank may tender a bid at such sale in an amount equal to the total amount of 
all municipal claims and liens which were the basis for the judgment. In the event of such tender by the land 
bank the property shall be deemed sold to the land bank regardless of any bids by any other third parties. The 
bid of the land bank shall be paid as to its form, substance, and timing according to such agreement as is 
mutually acceptable to the plaintiff and the land bank. The obligation of the land bank to perform in accor-
dance with such agreement shall be deemed to be in full satisfaction of the municipal claim which was the 
basis for the judgment. The land bank, as purchaser at such sale shall take and forever thereafter have, an 



 

absolute title to the property sold, free and discharged of all tax and municipal claims, liens, mortgages, 
charges and estates of whatsoever kind. The deed to the land bank shall be executed, acknowledged and de-
livered within thirty days of the sale. 
 
§ 1617.  Contracts 
 
   (a) The land bank may, in its discretion, assign contracts for supervision and coordination to the success-
ful bidder for any subdivision of work for which the land bank receives bids. Any construction, demolition, 
renovation and reconstruction contract awarded by the land bank shall contain such other terms and condi-
tions as the land bank may deem desirable. The land bank shall not award any construction, demolition, re-
novation and reconstruction contract greater than ten thousand dollars except to the lowest bidder who, in its 
opinion, is qualified to perform the work required and who is responsible and reliable. The land bank may, 
however, reject any or all bids or waive any informality in a bid if it believes that the public interest will be 
promoted thereby. The land bank may reject any bid, if, in its judgment, the business and technical organiza-
tion, plant, resources, financial standing, or experience of the bidder justifies such rejection in view of the 
work to be performed. 
  
(b) For the purposes of article fifteen-A of the executive law only, the land bank shall be deemed a state 
agency as that term is used in such article, and all contracts for procurement, design, construction, services 
and materials shall be deemed state contracts within the meaning of that term as set forth in such article. 
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Albany County Resolution 68 of 2014 
(Local Legislation that Forms the Statutory Basis of the Corporation) 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

September 20, 2017

To the Board of Directors of
Albany County Land Bank Corporation:

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Albany County Land 
Bank Corporation (Corporation) (a component unit of the County of Albany, New 
York), as of and for the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Corporation’s 
basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based 
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable 
to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant 
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

6 Wembley Court

Albany, New York 12205

p (518) 464-4080
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ALBANY  •  BATAVIA  •  BUFFALO  •  EAST AURORA  •  GENEVA  •  NYC  •  ROCHESTER  •  RUTLAND, VT  •  SYRACUSE  •  UTICA

www.bonadio.com



2

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
(Continued)

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Albany County Land Bank Corporation, as of June 30, 2017 and 2016, and the 
respective changes in financial position and cash flows thereof for the years then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Report on Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management’s discussion and analysis listed in the accompanying table of contents be presented to 
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it 
to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an 
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures 
to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of 
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during 
our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance 
on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to 
express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
September 20, 2017 on our consideration of the Corporation’s internal control over financial 
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, 
and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope 
of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that 
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control over 
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Corporation’s internal control 
over financial reporting and compliance.
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ALBANY COUNTY LAND BANK CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of the County of Albany, New York)

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (UNAUDITED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 AND 2016

The following is a discussion and analysis of the Corporation’s financial performance for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2017.  The section is a summary of the Corporation’s financial activities based 
on currently known facts, decisions, or conditions. Because this is the first year of operations for the 
Corporation, only the results on the current year are discussed below. This section is only an 
introduction and should be read in conjunction with the Corporation’s financial statements, which 
immediately follow this section. 

Financial Highlights

 The Corporation’s net position increased approximately $8 million this year. Much of this 
increase is attributable to an increase in the Land Bank’s property portfolio through 
additional property acquisitions and drawdowns of available grant funds. 

 The Corporation disposed of 73 properties in fiscal year 2017, a substantial increase from 
20 properties in fiscal year 2016.

 Revenue from property sales in fiscal year 2017 was approximately $1.3 million, an increase 
of 347% from the approximately $300,000 in property sales in fiscal year 2016.

 Revenue from property sales comprised substantially all operating revenue in fiscal year
2017. 

 The Corporation added 2 full time staff positions in fiscal year 2017 increasing salary and 
benefit expenses in addition to having three Americorp service members which were funded 
from a grant from the Local Initiatives Support Corporation. 

 The increase of property sales, addition of new properties and commensurate increase in 
number of property improvements and ongoing maintenance resulted in a corresponding
increase in operating expenses, including professional fees, insurance and other related 
expenses.

 Property held for sale was valued at approximately $10 million in 2017. It should be noted 
that this is recorded as the assessed value of the property at the time of donation from the 
County.

 The Corporation had approximately $1.8 million in cash at the end of fiscal year 2017, an 
increase from approximately $800,000 at the beginning of the year. The majority of this cash 
increase is from grant funds received by the Corporation and cash from property sales 
exceeding cash outlays for salaries and other operating costs. 

 The Corporation had a net cash flow from operations of $259,268 in fiscal year 2017 in fiscal 
year 2016, a favorable increase from ($262,383) in fiscal year 2016. This has been primarily 
due to an increase in property sales as the Corporation finishes its third year of existence 
and is able to return more properties to productive use. 

 The Corporation is in a stronger financial position as it finishes its third year of operations, 
however the Corporation still relies heavily on grant funds to operate. 

Overview of Financial Statements

The basic financial statements include the statement of net position, statement of revenues, 
expenses and change in net position, statement of cash flows, and notes to the financial statements. 

The first of these statements is the Statement of Net Position. This is the statement of financial 
position presenting information that includes all of the Corporation’s assets and liabilities, with the 
difference reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a 
useful indicator of whether the financial position of the Corporation as a whole is improving or 
deteriorating. Evaluation of the overall economic health of the Corporation must include other non-
financial factors such as the economic picture of the City, County and the State, in addition to the 
financial information provided in this report. 
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Overview of the Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
The second statement is the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position, which 
reports how the Corporation’s net position changed during the current and previous fiscal year. 
Revenues and expenses are included when earned or incurred, regardless of when cash is received 
or paid.  
 
The third statement is the Statement of Cash Flows, which shows the sources and uses of cash.  
 
The accompanying Notes to the Financial Statements provide information essential to a full 
understanding of the financial statements. 
 
Financial Analysis  
 
Below is a summary of the Statements of Net Position and the Statements of Revenues, Expenses 
and Changes in Net Position for the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016: 
 
Summary of Net Position

2017 2016 $ Change % Change

Current assets 1,970,349$     839,165$        1,131,184$     135%
Non-current assets 10,116,934     3,112,161       7,004,773       225%

Total assets 12,087,283     3,951,326       8,135,957       206%

Current liabilities 157,083          130,929          26,154            20%

Non-current liabilities 61,238            -                     61,238            100%

Total liabilities 218,321          130,929          87,392            67%

Net position
Net investment in capital assets 6,019              1,732              4,287              248%
Unrestricted 11,862,943     3,818,665       8,044,278       211%

11,868,962$   3,820,397$     8,048,565$     211%  
 
In the third year of the Corporation’s existence, the Corporation increased its net position by $8.05 
million.  This increase resulted primarily through increasing inventory of property held for sale 
through donations from the County as well as capital improvements made to those properties 
through grant funds.   The Corporation accepted $9.5 million in properties from the County of Albany 
which were recorded at their assessed value.  To further increase the property inventory value, the 
Corporation made $1.1 million in capital improvements to its property that was held for sale.  The 
Corporation sold 73 properties during the year which removed $3.7 million in property cost from its 
inventory.  
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Financial Analysis (Continued)

Summary of Changes in Net Position

2017 2016 $ Change % Change

Operating Revenue:

Sale of property 1,311,078$    293,300$       1,017,778$    347%

Other income 17,972           3,396             14,576           429%

Total operating revenues 1,329,050      296,696         1,032,354      348%

Operating Expenses 4,799,186      1,203,703      3,595,483      299%

Operating loss (3,470,136)    (907,007)       (2,563,129)    283%

Non-operating revenues:

Grants 789,643         747,577         42,066           6%

Other 10,053           40,824           (30,771)         -75%

Total non-operating revenues 799,696         788,401         11,295           1%

Other Additions:

Donated property 9,527,415      1,697,400      7,830,015      461%

Grants 1,191,590      660,707         530,883         80%

Total other additions 10,719,005    2,358,107      8,360,898      355%

Change in net position 8,048,565      2,239,501      5,809,064      259%

Net position - beginning of year 3,820,397      1,578,696      2,241,701      142%

Net position - end of year 11,868,962$  3,818,197$    8,050,765$    211%

The Corporation in its third year of operations saw an increase in operating revenues and expenses. 
Operating revenues increased over 300% due to selling 73 properties in 2017 which was an 
increase from the 20 properties sold in fiscal year 2016.  This increase in activity also impacted 
operating expenses, increasing them by approximately $3.6 million.  Grant and donated property 
revenues also saw an increase in 2017.  Grant revenues increased due to new grants from the City 
of Albany and donated properties increased due to the number of properties donated by the County 
of Albany increase from 38 in 2016 to 470 in 2017.

Economic Factors

 The Corporation will continue to look for funding opportunities to further its mission of 
promoting local development.  Each year, the Corporation will evaluate opportunities for 
investment of its resources in furthering this mission.

CONTACTING ADMINISTRATION

This financial report is designed to provide citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors and creditors 
with a general overview of the Corporation’s finances and to show the accountability for the money 
received.  If you have questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact 
the Albany County Land Bank Corporation’s Executive Director at 69 State Street, 8th Floor, Albany, 
New York 12207.



ALBANY COUNTY LAND BANK CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of the County of Albany, New York)

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2017 AND 2016

2017 2016

ASSETS
Cash 1,799,473$      811,523$         
Accounts receivable 19,500             800                  
Due from New York State 114,388 -                       
Prepaid expenses 36,988             26,842             

Total current assets 1,970,349        839,165           

Property held for sale 10,049,677      3,110,429        
Other 61,238 30,037
Capital assets, net 6,019               1,732               

Total assets 12,087,283      3,981,363        

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 156,352           104,447           
Unearned grant revenue 731                  26,482             

Total current liabilities 157,083           130,929           

Other long-term liabilities 61,238             30,037             

Total liabilities 218,321           160,966           

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 6,019               1,732               
Unrestricted - property held for resale 10,049,677      3,110,429        
Unrestricted - available for operations 1,813,266        708,236           

11,868,962$    3,820,397$      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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ALBANY COUNTY LAND BANK CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of the County of Albany, New York)

STATEMENTS OF REVENUE, EXPENSES, AND CHANGE IN NET POSITION
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 AND 2016

2017 2016
OPERATING REVENUE:

Sale of property 1,311,078$      293,300$         
Fees 17,972             3,396               

Total operating revenue 1,329,050        296,696           

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Cost of sales 3,705,092        570,526           
Salaries and benefits 326,183           199,309           
Property maintenance 218,039           193,123           
Professional fees 155,109 94,409
Insurance 122,965           87,899             
Albany County - property tax recoveries 100,335 -                       
Property sale related 74,809             18,521             
Office and administrative 64,076             37,662             
Property taxes 25,505 -                       
Travel 5,820               1,740               
Depreciation 1,253               514                  
Unearned grant revenue

Total operating expenses 4,799,186        1,203,703        

Operating loss (3,470,136)       (907,007)          

NON-OPERATING REVENUES:

Grant revenue - County of Albany 500,000 500,000
Grant revenue - State of New York 252,699 247,577
Grant revenue - LISC 36,944             -                       
Rental 9,435 2,200               
Interest 618 40                    
Other -                       40,784             

Total non-operating revenues 799,696           790,601           

OTHER ADDITIONS:
Donation of property for sale 9,527,415        1,697,400        
Grant revenue - City of Albany 109,833 -                   
Grant revenue - State of New York (NFN) 42,808 -                   
Grant revenue - State of New York 1,038,949        660,707           

Total other additions 10,719,005      2,358,107        

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 8,048,565        2,241,701        

NET POSITION - beginning of year 3,820,397        1,578,696        

NET POSITION - end of year 11,868,962$    3,820,397$      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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ALBANY COUNTY LAND BANK CORPORATION

(A Component Unit of the County of Albany, New York)

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2017 AND 2016

2017 2016

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from property sales 1,292,378$      296,696$         

Receipts from other operating activities 17,972             -                       

Payments to employees for salaries and benefits (316,948)          (196,565)          
Payments to vendors for goods and services (734,134)          (362,514)          

Net cash flows from operating activities 259,268           (262,383)          

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from grants 1,841,094        1,020,000        

Purchases of properties (8,500)              (38,941)            
Payments for improvements to property held for sale (1,108,425)       (611,716)          

Net cash flows from capital and related financing activities 724,169           369,343           

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of capital assets (5,540)              -                       

Unearned grant revenueNet cash flows from non-capital and related financing activities (5,540)              -                       

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from rental of property 9,435               1,400               
Receipts from interest earnings 618                  40                    

Net cash flows from investing activities 10,053             1,440               

Net change in cash 987,950           108,400           

Cash, beginning of year 811,523           703,123           

Cash, end of year 1,799,473$      811,523$         

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO NET CASH

FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Operating loss (3,470,136)$     (907,007)$        

Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash from operating activities:

Depreciation 1,253               514                  

Loss on capital asset disposal -                       2,558               

Cost of property sales (non-cash item) 3,705,092        570,526           

Change in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (18,700)            

Prepaid expenses (10,146)            9,186               
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 51,905             61,840             

Net cash flows from operating activities 259,268$         (262,383)$        

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS:

Receipt of property held for sale 9,527,415$      1,697,400$      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
8
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ALBANY COUNTY LAND BANK CORPORATION
(A Component Unit of the County of Albany, New York)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2017 AND 2016

1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Organization
Albany County Land Bank Corporation (Corporation) was formed July 1, 2014, and is 
governed by its Articles of Incorporation, bylaws and the laws of the State of New York. The 
Corporation was established to facilitate the process of acquiring, improving and redistributing 
vacant and abandoned properties in the County of Albany (County). The Corporation’s board 
of directors is comprised of individuals appointed by the County. The Corporation is 
considered a component unit of the County.

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation
The Corporation’s financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting 
using the economic resources measurement focus, in accordance with U.S. generally 
accepted accounting principles as promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB). Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a 
liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. 

Cash

Custodial credit risk related to cash deposits is the risk that in the event of a failure of a 
depository financial institution, the reporting entity may not recover its deposits.  In accordance 
with the Corporation’s investment policy, all deposits of the Corporation including certificates 
of deposit and special time deposits, in excess of the amount insured under the provisions of 
the Federal Deposit Insurance Act (FDIA) shall be secured by a pledge of securities with an 
aggregate value equal to the aggregate amount of deposits.  

The Corporation had bank balances of $1,960,765 and $853,355, at June 30, 2017 and 2016, 
respectively, of which $500,000 and $466,460 are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (FDIC). At June 30, 2017 and 2016, the remaining bank balance was 
collateralized with securities held in the Corporation’s name.  

Prepaid Expenses

Prepaid expenses represent payments made by the Corporation for which benefits extend 
beyond year-end.  These payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting
periods and are reported in the statement of net position as an asset using the consumption 
method.  A current asset for the prepaid amounts is recorded at the time of purchase and an 
expense is reported in the year the goods or services are consumed.

Property Held for Sale

The Corporation primarily acquires its property held for sale from the County for the purpose of
improving those properties and returning them to productive use on the tax rolls.  These 
properties are recorded at assessed value at the time of donation which approximates fair 
value.  Depending on the condition of the property at the time of donation, certain capital costs 
may be required to improve that property and are included in the value of the property. 
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1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Capital Assets, Net
Capital assets are reported at actual cost.  Donated assets are reported at estimated fair value 
at the time received. Capitalization thresholds, (the dollar value above which asset 
acquisitions are added to the capital asset accounts), depreciation methods, and estimated 
useful lives of capital assets reported in the Statement of Net Position are as follows:

Capitalization 
Threshold

Depreciation 
Method

Estimated 
Useful Life

Furniture and equipment $1,000 SL 5 years

Net Position Classifications

In the financial statements, there are three possible classifications of net position:

Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of debt, if any, that are attributable to 
the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. 

The restricted component of net position consists of restricted assets reduced by 
liabilities related to those assets.  Generally, a liability relates to restricted assets if the 
asset results from a resource flow that also results in the recognition of a liability or the 
liability will be liquidated with the restricted assets reported. The Corporation does not 
have restricted net position at June 30, 2017.

The unrestricted component of net position is the net amounts of the assets and 
liabilities that are not included in the determination of net investment of capital assets or 
the restricted component of net position. 

The Corporation’s policy is to first utilize available restricted, when available, and then 
unrestricted resources in the conduct of its operations.

Classification of Revenue and Expense

Operating revenues are those that result from the provision of services related to the 
Corporation’s principal purposes, and are generally associated with exchange transactions.  
Nonoperating revenues result from activities that are not directly related to the Corporation’s
principal purposes, but that exist in order to support them, and generally consist of 
nonexchange transactions.  Other additions arise from nonexchange transactions which 
provide for the value of donated properties and resources for related capital improvements
and are non-exchange transactions.

Grant Revenue – County of Albany

The Corporation received a $500,000 grant from the County for administrative costs for each 
of the years ended June 30, 2017 and 2016.  

Grant Revenue – State of New York

The Corporation was awarded a $2,880,000 grant from the New York State Office of the 
Attorney General for the period January 1, 2015 through December 31, 2017.  The grant is to 
be used to make capital improvement to acquired properties, property maintenance and other 
operating expenses related to the acquired properties.   The grant is paid on a quarterly basis 
based on the estimated needs for the upcoming quarter specifically related to the properties 
and includes adjustments for unspent funds from previous quarters.  
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1. ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Grant Revenue – State of New York (Continued)

As a result, funds received in advance of disbursement are recognized as unearned grant
revenue and disbursements exceeding amounts received are recognized as due from New 
York State.      

Income Taxes

The Corporation is a not-for-profit local development corporation under Article 16 of New York 
State not-for-profit corporation law and is exempt from federal income taxes and New York 
State taxes. Accordingly, no income tax provision has been made. 

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
revenue and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those 
estimates.  Estimates and assumptions are made in a variety of areas, including computation 
of depreciation using useful lives of assets and the fair value of donated property.

2. PROPERTY HELD FOR SALE 

The Corporation’s activity related to property held for sale during fiscal year ending June 30, 2017
and 2016, are as follows:

Balance at Donated Purchased Cost of

Fiscal Beginning Property Property Capital Property Balance at 

Year  of Year Acquisitions Acquisitions Improvements Sales End of Year

2017 3,110,429$    9,527,415      8,500             1,108,425      (3,705,092)    10,049,677$  

2016 1,332,898$    1,697,400      38,941           611,716         (570,526)       3,110,429$    

The Corporation acquired 470 and 38 parcels of property in fiscal year 2017 and 2016, 
respectively.  The Corporation sold 73 and 20 parcels of property in fiscal year 2017 and 2016, 
respectively.  In 2017 the 73 parcels of property were sold for total consideration of $1,311,078
resulting in a loss on disposition of those properties of $2,394,014.

3. CONCENTRATIONS 

The Corporation received 89% and 94% of its revenue from the County, the City of Albany and 
the New York State Office of the Attorney General for the year ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, 
respectively.
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4. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

In the normal course of business, the Corporation is subject to various lawsuits and claims.  
Management believes that the ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a significant 
effect on the Corporation’s financial position.

The Corporation participates in two grant programs.  These programs could be subject to 
financial and compliance audits and may be conducted in accordance with grantor 
requirements on a periodic basis.  The amounts, if any, of expenses which may be disallowed 
by the granting agencies cannot be determined at this time although the Corporation believes, 
based upon its review of current activity, the amount of such disallowances, if any, will be 
immaterial.

The Corporation entered into a lease agreement for office space in November of 2016. The 
lease term is through November 2019 and has a fixed yearly rent amount of $20,520.  The 
lease agreement also provides for additional rent which is the Corporation’s pro-rata share of 
the buildings tax, operating and maintenance payments.  Rental expense for the year ended 
June 30, 2017 was $16,127. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 
BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

September 20, 2017

To the Board of Directors of
Albany County Land Bank Corporation:

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits 
contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General 
of the United States, the financial statements of Albany County Land Bank 
Corporation (Corporation), a component unit of the County of Albany, New York
as of and for the year ended June 30, 2017, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the Corporation’s basic financial 
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated September 20, 2017.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered 
the Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to 
determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the 
purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Corporation’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Corporation’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control 
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing 
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a 
timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, 
or detected and corrected on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe 
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those 
charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the 
first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in 
internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. 
Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material 
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

(Continued)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING 
STANDARDS (Continued)

Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Corporation’s financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of 
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct 
and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an 
opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we 
do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or 
other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.



REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS

September 20, 2017

Board of Directors
Albany County Land Bank Corporation
69 State Street
Albany, New York 

Dear Board Members:

We have audited the financial statements of the Albany County Land Bank 
Corporation (Corporation) for the year ended June 30, 2017. Professional 
standards require that we provide you with information about our responsibilities 
under generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing 
Standards, as well as certain information related to the planned scope and timing 
of our audit. We have communicated such information in our engagement letter. 
Professional standards also require that we communicate to you the following 
information related to our audit.

Significant Audit Findings

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting 
policies. The significant accounting policies adopted by the Corporation during 
the period are described in Note 1 to the financial statements. We noted no 
transactions entered into by the Corporation during the period for which there is a 
lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have 
been recognized in the financial statements in the proper period.

Significant Accounting Estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by 
management and are based on management’s knowledge and experience about 
past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain 
accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to 
the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting 
them may differ significantly from those expected. The most sensitive estimates
affecting the Corporation’s financial statements were:

Management’s estimate of the useful lives of property is based on 
judgments regarding the length of time an asset will provide value 
to the Corporation. 

Management’s estimate of the value of donated property is based 
upon assessed value of property received.

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop these estimates
in determining that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements 
taken as a whole.
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Significant Audit Findings (Continued)

Financial Statement Disclosures

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to 
financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the financial statements were:

The disclosure of concentrations statements describes the limited sources of revenue 
of the Corporation.

The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear.

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and completing 
our audit.

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during 
the audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of 
management. Management has corrected all such misstatements. In addition, none of the 
misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and corrected by management were material, 
either individually or in the aggregate, to each opinion unit’s financial statements taken as a whole.

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, a disagreement with management is a financial accounting, reporting, or 
auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial 
statements or the auditor’s report. We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose 
during the course of our audit.

Management Representations

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter dated the date of this letter.

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 
accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a consultation 
involves application of an accounting principle to the Corporation’s financial statements or a 
determination of the type of auditor’s opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our 
professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the 
consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other 
accountants.

Other Audit Findings or Issues

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and 
auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as the Corporation’s auditors. 
However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our 
responses were not a condition to our retention.

Other Matters

We applied certain limited procedures to management’s discussion and analysis, which is required 
supplementary information (RSI) that supplements the basic financial statements. Our procedures 
consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of preparing the information and 
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial 
statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
RSI.
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Restriction on Use

This information is intended solely for the use of the Board of Directors and management of the
Albany Land Bank Corporation and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other 
than these specified parties.

Very truly yours,

Bonadio & CO. LLP
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Albany County Land Bank Organizational Chart  

 

 

Albany County Land Bank Property Purchase Process Overview  
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Board of Directors and Officers 

Charles Touhey 
Chairman 
 
Pamela Harper, PhD 
Vice Chair 
 
David Traynham  
Treasurer 
 

Samuel Wells 
Secretary 
 
Natisha Alexander 
Director 
 
Philip Calderone 
Director 
 

Jeff Collett 
Director 
 
Todd Curley 
Director 
 
Chris Spencer 
Director 

 
 

 

Corporation Staff  

Adam Zaranko 
Executive Director  
 
Amanda Wyckoff 
Property & Development Manager  
 
Christina Wiley 
Executive Assistant and Special Projects 
Coordinator  
 
Irvin Ackerman 
Real Estate Sales & Assistant Property Manager 
 
Erin Scantlebury 
Real Estate Sales Support Specialist 

Rodney Fontus 
Assistant Project Coordinator  
 
Sylvia Hahn Berman, LISC AmeriCorps  
Community Engagement Coordinator  
 
Charlotte O’Connor, LISC AmeriCorps 
Neighborhood Planning and Program 
Coordinator 
 
Virginia Rawlins, LISC AmeriCorps 
Housing Services Counselor 

 
 

 

Corporation Counsel  
Catherine Hedgeman, Law 
Office of Catherine M. 
Hedgeman, PLLC 

Corporation Accountants 
25th Hour Accounting 
Solutions  
 

Corporation Auditor 
The Bonadio Group 

 
 
Board Committee and Membership 
 
Governance Committee: Pamela Harper, PhD, David Traynham, Charles Touhey  
 
Acquisition & Disposition Committee: Natisha Alexander, Jeffery Collett, Todd Curley, David Traynham, 
Charles Touhey, Sam Wells 
 
Finance Committee: David Traynham, Charles Touhey, Natisha Alexander  
 
Audit Committee: Todd Curley, Pamela Harper, Catherine Hedgeman (volunteer)   

http://www.albanycountylandbank.org/


 

Compensation Schedule 
There were no managerial employees employed by the Corporation who were compensated in excess of 
one-hundred thousand dollars ($100,000.00) in 2016/2017. 
 
About the Albany County Land Bank  
The Albany County Land Bank Corporation is a Land Bank created by Albany County under the New York 
Land Bank Act.  
 
Mission Statement  
“The Albany County Land Bank facilitates the process of acquiring, improving and redistributing vacant 
and abandoned properties to eliminate the harms and liabilities caused by such properties and return 
them to productive use, while being consistent with the municipality’s redevelopment and 
comprehensive plans.” 
 
Corporate Purpose 
Pursuant to the Albany County Land Bank Corporation’s Article of Incorporation: 
 
The Corporation is to be formed and operated for the purpose of acquiring vacant, abandoned, donated 
and tax-delinquent properties in the County of Albany, New York and for redeveloping them. The lawful 
public or quasi-public objective which the Corporation will achieve is restoring properties to productive 
use and the revitalization of neighborhoods in Albany County to productive use in order to eliminate the 
harms and liabilities caused by such properties, and lessen the burden of government and act in the 
public interest. In furtherance of said purposes, the Corporation's powers shall include all powers and 
duties granted land bank corporations as set forth in Article 16 of the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law of 
the State of New York, as it may be amended from time-to-time, which powers are incorporated herein 
by reference as if fully stated herein, and shall also include: 
 
(a) any other act or thing incidental to or connected with the foregoing purposes or in advancement 
thereof, but not for the pecuniary profit or financial gain of its members, directors, officers or any 
private person. 
 
(b) In general, to perform any and all acts and things, and exercise any and all powers which may now or 
hereafter be lawful for the Corporation to do or exercise under and pursuant to the laws of the State of 
New York for the purpose of accomplishing any of the foregoing purposes of the Corporation. 
 
Legislation that Forms the Statutory Basis of the Corporation 
NYS Not-For-Profit Corporation Law - Article 16 
 
Albany County Legislature, Resolution 68 of 2014, Establishing the Albany County Property Development 
Corporation, a New York State Land Bank  
 
Assessment of the Effectiveness of Internal Control Structure and Procedures  
This statement certifies that management has documented and assessed the internal control structure 
and procedures of the Albany County Land Bank Corporation for the year ending June 30, 2017. This 
assessment found the corporation’s internal controls to be adequate, and to the extent that deficiencies 
were identified, the authority has developed corrective action plans to reduce any corresponding risk. 
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